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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Good morning.  I

          3  want to thank you all for being here today for the

          4  Hearing of the Women's Issues Committee and the

          5  Health Committee on cervical cancer and screening

          6  and prevention.  My name is Helen Sears and I'm

          7  Chair of the Women's Issues Committee, and Joel

          8  Rivera, who is Chair of the Health Committee, will

          9  be here shortly.  Traffic is not the greatest this

         10  morning, but I certainly appreciate your getting

         11  through all of that and being here while you waited

         12  for us.  So, my apologies, because we always like to

         13  start on time.

         14                 Before I go on, I'm going to

         15  introduce Rosie Mendez to my left, from Manhattan,

         16  Inez Dickens from Manhattan. I'm Helen Sears.  We

         17  have Baaba Halm, who is Counsel to the Women's

         18  Committee.  We have Adira Siman, you are Counsel to

         19  the Health Committee and thank you for being here.

         20  Committee Members will  --  and here is Councilwoman

         21  Mealy from Brooklyn joining us and I know that

         22  Charles Barron is across the street and he will be

         23  in.  So, you'll see them floating in and out,

         24  hopefully in and staying, not leaving so quick.

         25                 Cervical cancer is one of the most
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          2  common cancers that affect a woman's reproductive

          3  organs.  Women are at risk for cervical cancer

          4  throughout their lives.  While this cancer can occur

          5  at any age, it is found most often in women older

          6  than 40 years.  Medical experts agree that regular

          7  gynecological examinations and cervical cancer

          8  screening is key in preventing and treating the

          9  disease.

         10                 It is estimated that as many as 90

         11  percent of women who have cervical cancer can be

         12  cured if the cancer is found and treated early on.

         13  Research has found several factors that may affect a

         14  woman's risk of developing the cancer, including a

         15  high number of sexual partners, many full term

         16  pregnancies, use of oral contraceptives, smoking, a

         17  diet low in fruit and vegetables and infection with

         18  other types of sexually transmitted diseases, such

         19  as the Human Papillomavirus.

         20                 I have to make a comment here because

         21  the issues that we discuss in this Chamber is like

         22  pulling off the shades, because we've had issues on

         23  human trafficking, we've had it on other sexually

         24  transmitted diseases.  It's really amazing that we

         25  sit here and we're talking about sexually
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          2  transmitted diseases, when I know 20 years ago that

          3  was not done in this Chamber.

          4                 So, we've taken some very bold steps

          5  and when anyone thinks about the Council and the

          6  initiatives that we do, I'd like you to all remember

          7  that we've open the door to some very controversial

          8  issues.  We do it because we really mean to pay

          9  attention to these issues and see what can be done

         10  to reduce this health, this health indicy (phonetic)

         11  that certainly can be prevented.

         12                 HPV is recognized as the major cause

         13  of cervical cancer and is usually transmitted

         14  through sexual contact. Although many women contract

         15  cervical cancer in or around middle age, there is a

         16  chance that they were exposed to the HPV virus that

         17  caused the cancer while they were young.  Recently,

         18  a vaccine has been developed that protect against

         19  four types of HPV.  Type Six and 11 are responsible

         20  for 90 percent of genital warts and type 16 and 18

         21  cause 70 percent of cervical cancer cases.

         22                 The FDA approved the vaccine Gardasil

         23  for girls and women, ages nine to 26.  The vaccine

         24  is most effective if given before a girl or women

         25  becomes sexually active.  I have a three year old
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          2  granddaughter, which means in six years my daughter

          3  would have to make a decision.  I can understand why

          4  this issue has raised a lot of eyebrows around the

          5  country, let alone in New York City.

          6                 The vaccine is most effective if

          7  given before a girl or woman becomes sexually

          8  active.  Since Gardasil was introduced, there has

          9  been extensive debate throughout the country on

         10  issues such as government's role in encouraging use

         11  and/or mandating the vaccine and the relationship

         12  between the vaccine and sexual activity.

         13                 Today, the Committees hope to learn

         14  about New York City's efforts regarding cervical

         15  cancer education, treatment and prevention,

         16  including the HPV vaccine.  The Committees would

         17  also like to hear the positions of various groups

         18  about what is being done around this issue.

         19                 For our first panel, we have Dr.

         20  Ramanathan Raju, Executive Vice President and Chief

         21  Medical Officer of HHC and Dr. Isaac Weisfuse, DOHMH

         22  Deputy Commissioner, Division of Disease Control.

         23  Excellent.  Thank you for your patience, really.  I

         24  know that you're always on time.  So, with that,

         25  please introduce yourself and who has decided to go
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          2  first  --  we are joined by our Public Advocate,

          3  Betsy Gotbaum.  Please have a seat.  This is very

          4  good.

          5                 We're also joined by the Chair of the

          6  Health Committee, Joel Rivera and Maria Arroyo from

          7  the Bronx, and Melissa Viverito.  Thank you for

          8  being here and Betsy Gotbaum, our Public Advocate,

          9  who is sitting where she usually sits.  So, she's at

         10  the throne this morning.  So, if you will proceed.

         11  Introduce yourself for the record and we're looking

         12  forward to your testimony.

         13                 DR. RAJU:  Dr. Ramanathan Raju,

         14  Executive Vice President and Corporate Chief Medical

         15  Officer, Health and Hospitals Corporation.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  And

         17  since I'm going to go first, in terms of the

         18  testimony, I wanted to say good morning to the

         19  Members of the Committee on Health and Women's

         20  Issues.  My name is Dr. Isaac Weisfuse.  I'm a

         21  Deputy Commissioner for the Division of Disease

         22  Control at the New York City Department of Health

         23  and Mental Hygiene.  On behalf of Commissioner

         24  Frieden, I'd like to thank you for the opportunity

         25  to discuss cervical cancer screening and prevention
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          2  in the City of New York.

          3                 Today, I'm going to provide

          4  background about cervical cancer and screening and

          5  prevention in New York City, including the recently

          6  approved HPV vaccine or Human Papillomavirus

          7  vaccine, the recently published recommendations of

          8  the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's

          9  Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices or ACIP

         10  and the challenges we face in their implementation.

         11  I'll also discuss the Department's education and

         12  outreach activities and our efforts to maximize

         13  access to the vaccine.

         14                 Cervical cancer is a malignancy that

         15  begins in the lining of the cervix.  There are two

         16  main types of cervical cancers, 99 percent of which

         17  can be attributed to infection with a virus called

         18  Human Papillomavirus.

         19                 HPV is very common.  It causes an

         20  estimated 6.2 million new infections each year and

         21  infect 20 million people nationwide.  It can cause

         22  genital warts and cell changes that precede the

         23  development of cervical and other anogenital

         24  cancers. Most infections are asymptomatic and

         25  transmission occurs unknowingly.  Seventy percent of
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          2  infections clear within one year and 90 percent

          3  clear within two years.  It can take decades from

          4  initial infection with HPV to development of

          5  cervical cancer.

          6                 Thanks to the widespread use of the

          7  PAP test, which detects cervical abnormalities,

          8  incidence and mortality from cervical cancer have

          9  declined significantly during the past 40 years.  In

         10  2005, there were 10,370 new cases of cervical cancer

         11  and over 3,700 deaths from cervical cancer in the

         12  United States.  The trends for deaths from cervical

         13  cancer has been generally downward.  In our City,

         14  there were 157 deaths in 2005, down from 185 in

         15  1999.

         16                 Through the annual Community Health

         17  Surveys, our agency tracks the number of eligible

         18  women, and men in the case of colonoscopies, who

         19  report having a mammography, PAP smear and

         20  colonoscopy during the recommended time period.  In

         21  2005, more than 80 percent of women in New York City

         22  reported receiving a PAP test in the past three

         23  years.

         24                 Our Sexually Transmitted Disease

         25  clinics use PAP testing to screen for cervical
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          2  cancer and refer women with abnormal PAP results out

          3  for further testing and evaluation.  In 2006, almost

          4  8,200 PAP tests were performed at our STD clinics,

          5  of which 660 were abnormal.

          6                 On June 8, 2006, the FDA licensed a

          7  new vaccine for the prevention of cervical cancer

          8  and other diseases caused by HPV for use in girls

          9  and women 19 to 26 years of age, as you just heard

         10  from Council Member Sears.

         11                 The vaccine is a recombinant vaccine

         12  called Gardasil, produced by Merck Pharmaceuticals,

         13  that prevents infection with HPV type six, 11, 16

         14  and 18 in non- infected persons.  The vaccine is

         15  effective in reducing the incidence of a variety of

         16  conditions of the cervix, including cervical

         17  intraepithelial neoplasia, adenocarcinoma in situ,

         18  vulvar intraepithelial neoplasia and vaginal

         19  intraepithelial neoplasia and genital warts related

         20  to vaccine types in those who were uninfected at

         21  baseline clinical studies.

         22                 The efficacy was 100 percent in those

         23  uninfected women who completed the three- dose

         24  schedule required by the vaccine.  Evidence from the

         25  vaccine trial indicates that the vaccine is safe and
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          2  well tolerated.

          3                 The vaccine has the potential to

          4  protect women's health by preventing infections with

          5  HPV types that cause 70 percent of cervical cancers

          6  and 90 percent of genital warts.  In addition, the

          7  vaccine reduces the number of abnormal PAP tests and

          8  subsequent follow- up appointments and procedures.

          9  However, women who have been vaccinated still need

         10  to undergo PAP tests.

         11                 On June 29, 2006, the ACIP

         12  recommended routine vaccination for all girls 11 and

         13  12 years of age and a catch up vaccine for girls and

         14  women between 13 and 26, since even if sexually

         15  active, the likelihood that an individual would be

         16  infected with all four virus types is less than one

         17  percent.

         18                 Additionally, the CDC encourages

         19  vaccinations for girls beginning at nine years of

         20  age, the lower age for which the vaccine is

         21  licensed.  It's important to note that the

         22  recommendations for cervical cancer screening,

         23  including screenings with or without HPV DNA testing

         24  have not changed.

         25                 An application will be submitted for
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          2  FDA approval for a second HPV vaccine, for subtypes,

          3  covering subtypes 16 and 18 from Glaxo

          4  Pharmaceuticals this April.  If Glaxo receives an

          5  expedited review, licensure could occur in late this

          6  year.

          7                 This vaccine has a different

          8  formulation using an adjuvant to boost the immune

          9  response and appears to provide additional

         10  protection from HPV, specifically types 45 and 31,

         11  the third and fourth most prevalent cancer causing

         12  types.  Licensure of this vaccine would expand

         13  vaccine supply and increase competition and could

         14  possibly lower the cost of the entire vaccine

         15  series.

         16                 Immunogenicity and safety studies

         17  indicate that HPV vaccine will likely be licensed

         18  for males.  This will reduce the incidence of

         19  genital warts and penile and anal cancer and will

         20  reduce further transmission.  It will also create

         21  opportunities to participate in the health care of

         22  the gay community and in HIV management.

         23                 While this new vaccine gives us

         24  tremendous hope, there are still challenges to its

         25  distribution.  I'd like first to review the usual
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          2  process by which a vaccine is licensed and

          3  subsequently approved, which in itself represents a

          4  challenge. Before a vaccine becomes available, it

          5  must be licensed by the FDA, which usually follows

          6  years of research and development. The Advisory

          7  Committee on Immunization Practices will monitor and

          8  review progress of vaccine trials prior to

          9  licensure.

         10                 After licensure, ACIP will review

         11  available data and vote on recommendations for use

         12  of a new vaccine. Provisional recommendations are

         13  then published.  It then takes months for the ACIP

         14  to publish its final vaccine recommendation in the

         15  CDC's Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report.  Once

         16  published, the vaccine becomes the standard of care.

         17    In order for the vaccine to be available through

         18  the important federal Vaccines For Children program,

         19  the ACIP must vote on its inclusion and the CDC must

         20  negotiate a contract with the vaccine's

         21  manufacturer.

         22                 In the case of Gardasil, the

         23  provisional recommendations were made on June 29,

         24  2006.  The VFC resolution was passed the same day.

         25  The VFC contract was not finalized until October 31,
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          2  2006 and the final recommendations were not

          3  published in the MMWR until March 23, 2007 or just

          4  last Friday. This is significant because most

          5  insurance companies and managed care organizations

          6  will not include the vaccine as a covered benefit

          7  until the final recommendations are published.  So,

          8  we're certainly very glad that that hurdle has been

          9  cleared.

         10                 Financial issues are the major

         11  challenge to implementation, especially because the

         12  vaccine is unusually expensive.  Each does of

         13  Gardasil is $120.00 and remember you need three

         14  doses.  So, the total cost is $360.00.  Importantly,

         15  the Vaccines For Children program, which is a

         16  federally mandated program which provides free

         17  vaccine to providers to vaccinate VFC- eligible

         18  children, which are those who are uninsured or

         19  underinsured, including those eligible to receive

         20  Medicaid benefits.

         21                 VFC covers approximately two- thirds

         22  of girls and adolescents nine through 18 years of

         23  age in the City, ensuring that they have access to

         24  this vaccine.  Most of the remaining children in

         25  this age range will have coverage through their

                                                            16

          1  HEALTH AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  private insurance, as required by New York State

          3  insurance law.

          4                 It is women ages 19 to 26 who will

          5  have the most difficulty accessing the vaccine.

          6  Currently, there is no public funding for women 19

          7  to 26 years of age.  Those with Medicaid have

          8  coverage for the vaccine.  Women with private

          9  insurance may or may not have coverage, depending on

         10  the company, and the uninsured obviously do not have

         11  access to the vaccine.

         12                 Insurers are not required to

         13  reimburse providers any specific amount for this

         14  vaccine, which causes wide variability in its

         15  accessibility.  Reimbursement rates for vaccine

         16  administration are generally too low to cover costs

         17  and providers may be required to purchase the

         18  vaccine before they receive reimbursement.

         19                 Most of the information about uptake

         20  of new vaccines is available for young children

         21  through the CDC's National Immunization Survey.  As

         22  an example, varicella vaccine, which is the vaccine

         23  that protects against chicken pox, was licensed in

         24  March of 1995 and recommendations for routine use by

         25  ACIP were published in July 1996.  Estimated
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          2  coverage was 20 percent in 1997, two years after

          3  licensure, 52 percent the following year and 88

          4  percent in 2005, ten years, a full ten years after

          5  licensure.

          6                 Similarly, Hepatitis B vaccine was

          7  licensed in 1986, but it was not until 1991 that it

          8  was recommended for infants, 1996 for adolescents

          9  and required for middle school students in 2000 in

         10  the State of New York.

         11                 This experience demonstrates that the

         12  uptake of a new vaccine is a slow process.  The case

         13  of the HPV vaccine is probably no different. Such an

         14  endeavor involves the participation and cooperation

         15  of many different agencies and organizations.  The

         16  demand for HPV vaccine has exceeded the usual

         17  expectation primarily as a result of the

         18  manufacturer's effective marketing campaign and the

         19  media attention, in part because of the unique niche

         20  this vaccine occupies, a vaccine that will prevent

         21  cervical cancer.

         22                 The greatest impact on preventing

         23  infection with HPV and subsequently pre- cancerous

         24  lesions and cervical cancer, will result from

         25  vaccination prior to exposure.  Full implementation
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          2  of the vaccine recommendation will require a

          3  combination of service delivery, professional

          4  education, consumer outreach and media strategies.

          5                 Because of the need for three visits

          6  over a six month period and the age of the targeted

          7  population, it will be important to promote

          8  vaccination in the child's medical home by their

          9  primary care provider.  For those children who can't

         10  obtain the vaccine from their provider, the Health

         11  Department plans to provide the vaccine at its

         12  immunization walk- in clinics for girls nine to 18

         13  years of age by June 1, 2007.

         14                 It's important to note that for girls

         15  and young women less than 18 years of age, parental

         16  consent is required, as is the case with other

         17  vaccines.  Providing HPV vaccine to women 19 to 26

         18  years of age in the Immunization and STD Clinics

         19  would require significant additional funding for

         20  vaccine purchase and given the importance of

         21  completing a three- does vaccine series in a woman's

         22  medical home, we do not plan to offer the vaccine to

         23  19 to 26 year olds at this time.

         24                 Because adolescents do not utilize

         25  the primary care system as regularly as younger
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          2  children, we are identifying alternative sites to

          3  maximize access to vaccine by adolescents. Providers

          4  for adolescent clinics, juvenile detention and

          5  residential facilities, ob/gyn providers, family

          6  planning, cancer treatment centers, school- based

          7  clinics and after school programs will be recruited

          8  for the VFC program.

          9                 We've been actively supporting and

         10  promoting the use of the HPV vaccine.  All providers

         11  of vaccines to children were informed about the

         12  availability of the vaccine, the ACIP

         13  recommendations and ordering information last

         14  November, when the vaccine became available through

         15  the VFC program.

         16                 Subsequently, this newsletter was

         17  sent to all pediatric providers in the City,

         18  highlighting the new recommendations and our

         19  forthcoming issue of our Bureau of Immunization

         20  newsletter will also highlight the new HPV

         21  recommendations.

         22                 Professional educational activities

         23  among physicians have already begun and consumer

         24  outreach activities are being developed.  Because

         25  this is a new vaccine and the second, which may
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          2  prevent cancer, the first was the Hepatitis B

          3  vaccine, providers must become familiar with HPV

          4  disease, its relationship to cancer and the HPV

          5  vaccine.  We are educating providers, but it will

          6  take time for them to gain experience with the

          7  vaccine to ensure acceptance and safety.

          8                 To date, we've conducted numerous

          9  presentations to medical providers, managed care

         10  organization providers and we've participated in

         11  several conferences on HPV.  In an effort to promote

         12  and implement the HPV vaccine as effectively and

         13  efficiently as possible, the Health Department is

         14  partnering with professional medical organizations,

         15  such as the American Academy of Family Practice, the

         16  American Academy of Pediatrics, the American College

         17  of Obstetricians and Gynecologists and minority

         18  medical societies, such as the National Medical

         19  Association, to help with educational and

         20  promotional efforts.

         21                 We are pleased to report that as of

         22  March 23rd, 57,810 doses, including more than 10,000

         23  doses to HHC and community health centers of Human

         24  Papillomavirus vaccine has been distributed through

         25  the VFC program.  The program routinely monitors
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          2  uptake of new vaccines through our Citywide

          3  Immunization Registry and as of March 23rd, last

          4  Friday, a total of over 13,000 doses have been

          5  reported.  Due to lag time between administration

          6  reporting and underreporting, this is even likely an

          7  underestimate.

          8                 We compared the uptake of the two

          9  most recently recommended adolescent vaccines to

         10  that of HPV vaccine, looking at the first five

         11  months of distribution through VFC.  Of the over

         12  35,000 doses of Meningococcal vaccine distributed

         13  from April to September of 2005, only 8,900 doses

         14  were administered. Similarly, of the 21,000 Tetanus,

         15  Diphtheria, Pertussis vaccine distributed between

         16  September  '05 and February  '06, only 3,000 were

         17  reported to CIR.  So, I think that we've had a

         18  pretty good uptake both in ordering and in

         19  vaccination compared to the other vaccines we have

         20  experience with.

         21                 We are working to raise community

         22  awareness of HPV vaccine, availability of vaccine

         23  and the importance of PAP testing.  In the coming

         24  months, we're going to develop patient brochures,

         25  targeting women between 19 and 26 years and parents
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          2  and guardians of younger girls.  We will work with

          3  adolescent after school programs to provide

          4  educational material and promote discussions.

          5  Adolescent girls will be targeted through popular

          6  websites for this age group, such as gurl.com.  HPV

          7  vaccine information will be presented at health

          8  fairs and other public venues.

          9                 Additionally, the Immunization and

         10  Chronic Disease Prevention and Control bureaus are

         11  collaborating to integrate the HPV initiative with

         12  cancer care programs.  Political factors may hinder

         13  the acceptance of this vaccine if it is misperceived

         14  as an STD vaccine, as it may result in parents not

         15  vaccinating their daughters early, when they would

         16  receive the greatest protection.

         17                 The three- dose series is, in itself,

         18  is a barrier since many patients and many

         19  adolescents often do not keep routine or follow- up

         20  appointments.  Reaching and targeting adolescents, a

         21  population which underutilizes the primary care

         22  system, is especially challenging.

         23                 In addition to notifying our

         24  providers regarding vaccine availability and

         25  ordering information through the VFC program,
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          2  information is also available on our website, which

          3  is also linked to the CDC website.

          4                 So, in summary, there are 6.2 million

          5  new HPV vaccines in this country each year, with

          6  nearly three quarters occurring among 15 to 24 year

          7  olds.  It is responsible, HPV is responsible for the

          8  development of genital warts and cell changes which

          9  can progress to cervical and other genital cancers.

         10                 Vaccinating a cohort of 12 year old

         11  females would reduce the lifetime risk of cervical

         12  cancer by 20 to 66 percent, depending on the

         13  efficacy of the vaccine, duration of protection and

         14  the incidence of abnormal tests, PAP tests, by 21

         15  percent. We can't emphasize enough the importance of

         16  getting screened for cancer and following- up with a

         17  physician if PAP tests are not normal.

         18                 In order for HPV vaccine to be

         19  utilized to the fullest extent possible, educational

         20  efforts have and will be directed at both the

         21  professional community and the public.  The

         22  Department will continue its outreach and education

         23  activities to promote the use of a new, of this new

         24  vaccine as a routine part of primary care.  Various

         25  media will be utilized, including print
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          2  presentations and public service announcements.  In

          3  addition, the Department is continuing its work to

          4  foster relationships with groups that can provide

          5  services and target the adolescent population.

          6                 As highlighted by an article in this

          7  past Saturday's New York Times business section, the

          8  greatest barrier to full implementation of this

          9  vaccine is financing, which has caused a renewal in

         10  this, of this discussion at a national level.

         11                 Thank you so much for asking us to

         12  provide testimony today and we certainly look

         13  forward to working with the Council and the Public

         14  Advocate's Office to further the use of this

         15  vaccine.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Yes, if you will

         17  give your testimony.

         18                 DR. RAJU:  Good morning Chairperson

         19  Sears and Rivera and the esteemed Members of the

         20  Committee on Health and Women's Issues.  I'll just

         21  introduce myself, my name is Dr. Ramanathan Raju.

         22  I'm the Executive Vice President and the Chief

         23  Medical Officer of Health, New York City Health and

         24  Hospitals Corporation.  Thank you for the

         25  opportunity to discuss our Corporation's efforts to
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          2  screen patients for cervical cancer.

          3                 As many of you know, cancer is one of

          4  the ten most common causes of death.  In 2005,

          5  13,366 New Yorkers died from cancer.  This is nearly

          6  one- quarter of all deaths.  For New Yorkers between

          7  the ages of 35 and 64, cancer was the most common

          8  cause of death, both for men and women in the year

          9  2005. Nationwide, cervical cancer accounts for 3,710

         10  deaths in 2005. Cervical, breast and colon cancer

         11  are three areas where the death rates are higher for

         12  the lower income patients of color, largely due to

         13  the access barrier to early detection of these

         14  cancers.

         15                 Given these sobering statistics, HHC

         16  has working aggressively to screen for cancer and

         17  conduct public health awareness campaigns.  Health

         18  and Hospitals Corporation continues to increase

         19  cancer screening efforts.  Last year, our, HHC

         20  facilities provided more than 150,000 cervical

         21  cancer screenings and more than 80,000

         22  mammographies.  As a result, we are diagnosing

         23  significantly more cancer at an earlier stage where

         24  treatment is more effective and the prognosis much

         25  more helpful.
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          2                 Cancer prevention in general is a

          3  particular difficult process as the cause of most

          4  cancers are not immediately identifiable and the

          5  risk factors for developing cancer are numerous and

          6  they vary with each cancer type.  Thus, unlike a

          7  common infectious disease, which can be largely

          8  controlled by immunization, cancer prevention

          9  continues to be a challenge.

         10                 However, there's a new vaccine, the

         11  Human Papillomavirus vaccine, HPV, has been approved

         12  by U.S. Food and Drug Administration and recommended

         13  for use by the Disease, Centers of Disease Control

         14  and Prevention.  The HPV vaccine has been proven to

         15  be efficacious in preventing certain type of HPV

         16  infection which account for 70 percent of cervical

         17  cancer and other diseases.

         18                 The vaccine is recommended for girls

         19  and women between the ages of 11 to 26 and can be

         20  given to girls as early as nine years old.  The

         21  vaccine is administered in a series of three

         22  injections over a six months period.

         23                 In response to this promising

         24  cervical cancer prevention procedure, we at Health

         25  and Hospitals Corporation has developed a four-
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          2  point plan to promote the use of HPV vaccine.

          3                 First is increase the access to HPV

          4  vaccine. Health and Hospitals Corporation will

          5  ensure availability of the HPV vaccine in our

          6  pediatric, adolescent and adult primary care clinics

          7  for women and children between the ages of 11 and

          8  26.  We have ordered 10,270 doses of the vaccine

          9  from the VFC since November 2006.  We, as of first

         10  week in March, we had 5,191 doses on hand.

         11                 For children, the HPV vaccine is

         12  available from the Federal Vaccine for Children,

         13  VFC, program.  Nearly 95 percent of Health and

         14  Hospitals Corporation patients are eligible to

         15  receive the free vaccine through this program, which

         16  cover children who are either on Medicaid,

         17  uninsured, underinsured, Native American or Alaska

         18  Native.

         19                 In addition, more than 3,000 doses of

         20  additional vaccine have been purchased for the

         21  facilities since the beginning of 2007 for those who

         22  are not eligible to receive the VFC vaccination.

         23  That is for essentially 19 to 26 year old women.

         24  Approximately half of this supply has already been

         25  dispensed.
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          2                 Our Corporation will ensure that

          3  barriers to accessing vaccination are eliminated,

          4  including the lack of or limited insurance coverage.

          5    Not all insurance plans include HPV vaccine

          6  coverage.  Health and Hospitals Corporation is

          7  committed to making this vaccine available

          8  regardless of the person's ability to pay or

          9  insurance plan.  The policies are standard across

         10  all our facilities.

         11                 Our Corporation staff is help

         12  patients enroll in available insurance programs if

         13  they're eligible.  We also offer services at little

         14  or no cost through our HHC Options program. Girls

         15  under the age of 19 who have no health insurance can

         16  qualify for a free HPV vaccine at one of our

         17  facilities through the VFC program.

         18                 In addition, patients under the age

         19  of 19 whose financial income is up to 150 percent of

         20  federal poverty level can see a doctor in our

         21  Corporation and request for vaccine at no cost.

         22  Families whose income are between 150 percent and

         23  400 percent above the federal poverty level can

         24  visit an HHC doctor for a reduced fee ranging

         25  between $15.00 and $30.00 and can get the HPV
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          2  vaccine for free.

          3                 The second initiative is to increase

          4  public education, outreach and enhanced patient

          5  literacy.  Our Corporation will be distributing

          6  linguistically- and culturally appropriate printed

          7  material to parents of children and young women for

          8  whom the HPV vaccine is recommended.

          9                 Material from CDC and HPV vaccine

         10  manufacturer Merck are currently available in

         11  English, Spanish and Chinese. We're exploring having

         12  these documents translated into other languages.  We

         13  will also have other multi- media materials on

         14  cervical cancer, HPV and HPV vaccine in all our

         15  clinical sites for parents of children and young

         16  women for them to review prior to the clinic visit.

         17  We will also distribute these materials in the

         18  communities we serve through the community- based

         19  organizations and other agencies in May 2007 during

         20  our campaign to increase awareness on breast and

         21  cervical cancer.

         22                 Next week, we are meeting the members

         23  of New York Immigration Coalition to discuss how we

         24  can work collaboratively on these activities.  We

         25  will also be soliciting their collaboration in
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          2  translating these materials into native languages of

          3  their constituents.

          4                 The third plan is to increase

          5  provider education. We are in the process of

          6  training all our clinical staff on HPV and the HPV

          7  vaccine.  In order to continue the dissemination of

          8  knowledge and skills among our clinical staff, a

          9  continuing medical education program on cervical

         10  cancer, HPV and HPV vaccine is available for our

         11  clinical providers and the materials on the

         12  efficacy, safety and administration of HPV vaccine

         13  are also available.

         14                 And the entry for the HPV vaccine

         15  appears on the pediatric order entry section in our

         16  pediatric patients' electronic medical record and we

         17  are in the process of expanding this to include the

         18  adult patients.

         19                 The fourth plan is the utilization

         20  monitoring.  In order to monitor the implementation

         21  of activities to provide the HPV vaccine, our

         22  Corporation will generate and review utilization

         23  reports.

         24                 This concludes my written testimony.

         25  I'm looking forward to answering any of your
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          2  questions you may have.  Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Thank you Dr.

          4  Weisfuse and Dr. Raju.  Before I call on my

          5  colleague, Chair Rivera, for some comments, I want

          6  to say we're joined by Councilman Charles Barron.  I

          7  also want to introduce and thank Joan Povolny and

          8  Josh Nachowitz, they're Policy Analysts to the

          9  Committees and thank them for their work.

         10                 With that, I'm going to, I know he

         11  has a few words to say, Joel Rivera.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

         13  much Madam Chair.  Thank you gentlemen for being

         14  here with us today on this extremely important

         15  issue.  I have a couple of questions.  If a women

         16  goes into a medical facility and asks for a standard

         17  check up for sexually transmitted diseases, HPV

         18  would not be part of that standard check- up,

         19  correct?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Well,

         21  as you know, we run STD clinics.  So, the person

         22  would get a, you know, a full sexual history and

         23  physical exam and then if they were eligible for

         24  getting a PAP test, they would get a PAP test.

         25                 We don't screen for HPV as a normal
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          2  course of our STD clinic settings.  I think it's

          3  hard to generalize across the City in terms of the

          4  kind of HPV approach that all the different

          5  practitioners have out there.

          6                 We do have a training unit that tries

          7  to approach and engage practitioners to try to teach

          8  them about HPV and all other STDs in taking a good

          9  history and doing a good physical exam, so that

         10  we're very active on that front.  But, it's hard, I

         11  think, to generalize across the board about that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Is the reason

         13  why  --  I mean, I've heard this before, the reason

         14  why, obviously, people don't have a standard

         15  practice of testing for HPV is because since it's

         16  not curable, there's nothing you can really do about

         17  it, that's why it's not tested.  Is that, would that

         18  be one of the rationales for not?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Well,

         20  first of all, there's no, there's no recommendation

         21  to test for it prior to vaccination.  So, it's not

         22  considered to be a standard of practice to screen

         23  women and then get those results before you

         24  vaccinate.  Right now, the recommendations from the

         25  Federal Government are if you belong to that age
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          2  range, you can vaccinate and they don't necessarily

          3  recommend finding out your HPV profile, so to speak,

          4  before that.

          5                 HPV testing will be done if there is,

          6  in certain circumstances, when there's an abnormal

          7  PAP smear.  So, that is a standard of care.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  I mean, my

          9  question is basically based on the fact that, do we

         10  have research stating how many HPV patients turn

         11  into cervical cancer patients?  Is there a direct

         12  like percentage point, like say, ten percent of

         13  people contracting HPV will get cervical cancer and,

         14  therefore, we can do better monitoring, screening of

         15  that individual when they get it?  Is it beneficial

         16  to test for HPV early on, find out if they have it,

         17  so that there could be better treatment or better

         18  monitoring before they the cervical cancer comes

         19  into existence?

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Right,

         21  if  --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Like a

         23  preemptive measure  --

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Sure.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  --  I'm trying
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          2  to figure out.

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  It's a

          4  complicated issue, because if you refer back to the

          5  testimony, many people who get Human Papillomavirus

          6  clear it.  So, I may have it today and then six

          7  months from now I may not have it.  So, for whatever

          8  reason, my body has figured out a way to clear the

          9  infection. So, it's not always, so depending on when

         10  you tested me, you know, if such a test were

         11  available, then you might get a very different

         12  answer.  So, it's a little bit, from that

         13  perspective, of a moving target.

         14                 But, the PAP test is looking at, you

         15  know, sort of the initial problems that may be

         16  associated with HPV infection and, you know, trying

         17  to pick those up as early as possible. Right now,

         18  it's recommended that sexually active women get PAP

         19  tested every, every three years.  That's what we do

         20  in our clinics and I'm sure HHC does in their

         21  facilities.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  I'm just a

         23  little bit confused.  I mean, I'm not a scientist, I

         24  know maybe a fifth of the percent of the stuff that

         25  you guys actually know and I won't try to pretend
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          2  like if I know more.  But, you say that within six

          3  months to a year a person will clear the HPV

          4  standard from their body, correct?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Many

          6  people will, not  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Many people.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  --

          9  All.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Maybe.  But, it

         11  can take up to ten years for a person to develop

         12  cervical cancer from having the HPV?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:

         14  Sometimes even longer.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Even longer.

         16  So, then, theoretically, it never did really clear

         17  from your body because, I mean, if you still can

         18  develop the cervical cancer from the HPV, I mean how

         19  did it, isn't it like a trace?  From what it sounds

         20  like to me, we don't have enough research on the HPV

         21  stuff to determine its effect, because obviously it

         22  still has a long term effect on your body once you

         23  had it, even though it cleared. So, I mean  --

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  So,

         25  yeah, this is an important and difficult point and
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          2  I'm certainly not the world's HPV expert either, so

          3  I will be happy to follow- up on that, but  --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  --

          6  You know, one consideration is that there may be

          7  some virus that is not detectable in people by

          8  current testing methodology that is kind of latent

          9  in an individual.  So, the test kind of clears, but

         10  they may still have some what's known as latent

         11  infection that occurs in other viruses as well.

         12  Other may be, you know, re infection issues so you

         13  may clear it and then be exposed again and

         14  reinfected.  So, some of the, you know, precancerous

         15  changes are actually, can be caused by the acute

         16  infection.  So, you're sort of going down that road,

         17  if you will, even acutely.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay.  So, is

         19  it, but it's more prudent just to do, to invest all

         20  our resources in vaccination as opposed to testing

         21  of HPV to try to prevent future cases, just to do a

         22  bombardment of vaccinations?  Is that the direction

         23  that we're going to be looking to go towards and

         24  invest our  --

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Well,
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          2  you know, vaccination is really the, in some ways,

          3  the gold standard of public health  --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  --

          6  And, you know, in the big picture we're going to do

          7  a lot to deal with HPV related cervical cancer by

          8  really using these vaccines as much as possible and

          9  wisely.

         10                 However, one of the things that I

         11  think I mentioned once or twice is that the vaccine

         12  components don't cover every subtype that may cause

         13  cervical cancer.  So, even if you get the vaccine,

         14  the issues about still getting PAP testing are in

         15  play.  So, the combination of the vaccine and PAP

         16  testing will be enormously beneficial to this

         17  generation of young adolescent and young women as

         18  they get older and will cause a decrease in the

         19  amount of abnormal PAP smears over time.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay, so now on

         21  the vaccine side.  In your testimony you stated the

         22  fact the biggest barrier with the vaccine, besides

         23  the financial, is the time frame, that you need to

         24  get three doses within a six month time frame, I

         25  believe it is.  And, getting people to go for that
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          2  initial follow- up dosage seems to be the barrier.

          3  Is Glaxo Smith Klein and Merck trying to develop

          4  vaccines that will require, won't require three

          5  doses?  I heard somewhere that maybe the third dose

          6  may not be necessary, but still not clear whether

          7  it's necessary or not?  I'm just trying to.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Yeah,

          9  I know that, I thought that Merck was on the

         10  schedule today, so you might want to ask them  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Oh, okay.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  --

         13  About their, what they have in the pipeline in terms

         14  of, you know, other vaccine projects.  Certainly, it

         15  would be enormously helpful if it was possible to

         16  have a one- dose vaccine.  So, I think that's

         17  probably better left to them.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Left to them.

         19  So, then, I'll put it on the record, Merck, I'll be

         20  asking them if there's booster shots necessary for

         21  the vaccine afterward.

         22                 So, okay, now long- term research  --

         23  and maybe this is for Merck also  --  but long- term

         24  research, do we have any real long- term research on

         25  the effect on a young child in the development
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          2  stages of adolescent, pubescent years and how it's

          3  going to affect their system in the long- term by

          4  taking the vaccine?  Do we know if it's going to

          5  have any adverse, I know we have up to five years, I

          6  believe.  We don't have anything further?  There's

          7  no other country that's, because I know sometimes

          8  other countries develop these vaccines first and

          9  then we get it afterwards.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  I'm

         11  not aware of data that's been put out beyond the

         12  five- year mark, but that's a good question for

         13  Merck.  I'm positive that that is an ongoing study

         14  or studies to monitor the people who got the

         15  vaccines in these trials for a much longer period,

         16  because they're, you know, you can only really make

         17  recommendations and conclusions based on a five-

         18  year follow- up.

         19                 People really want to know what's the

         20  ten- year follow- up, what's the 20- year follow-

         21  up, et cetera.  So, the only way to do that is to

         22  keep measuring and seeing what's going on with the

         23  people who got the vaccine in these trials.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Who would do

         25  that consistent measuring?  Would it be the
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          2  government or would it be the pharmaceutical

          3  company?  Who's responsibility would that fall

          4  under?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  I mean

          6  I'm sure it's a requirement of the FDA to do it.

          7  Who actually is responsible is probably, I assume,

          8  the vaccine company.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  So, the vaccine

         10  company would do the continued research and follow-

         11  up?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Right,

         13  but it's something that they would continually

         14  report to FDA about since it's a, you know,

         15  important question.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  That concludes

         17  my line of questioning Madam Chair.  Thank you very

         18  much gentlemen.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Thank you.

         20  Before we go on to questions, we're also joined by

         21  Councilwoman Helen Foster, thank you for being here.

         22    I have just a few questions because we do have

         23  from the Committee Members and ones that I've just

         24  been writing out.  Do you keep a record of those

         25  that opt to be out of the vaccine when they're   --
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          2  excuse me  --  when they're offered to them?

          3  Because you've distributed the vaccine in thousands

          4  and thousands, is there any way that we would know

          5  how many have actually been offered and how much

          6  have actually had the vaccine or how many?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Well,

          8  we keep track not only of the distribution, but the

          9  usage for people who get the VFC vaccine.  So,

         10  they're supposed to report their usage to our

         11  Citywide Immunization Registry so we can determine

         12  that.

         13                 There, historically, has not been

         14  over a longer period of time, a large gap.  In other

         15  words, providers who order VFC vaccine generally use

         16  it.  They may not use it like on day one, but they

         17  generally do use it.  So, if we began to see that

         18  there was some sort of gap, we would inquire why

         19  that's happening.  But, in general, the Health

         20  Department does not track through that mechanism

         21  when people say no.  There are, you know, I suspect

         22  that we're going to get into this issue of school

         23  mandates and in school mandates there are some

         24  religious exemptions and we do track, you know,

         25  track that kind of information.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  The reason for

          3  that is that if that number begins to grow, aside

          4  from the religious differences, that it would help

          5  us to know that so we would look at what we have to

          6  do in order to distribute advocacy for the program

          7  and what its effects are.  I think my question is

          8  for Merck because I don't know what the documents

          9  say.  There's none here.  So, I guess we'll get that

         10  from Merck?  Because you distribute them, do you,

         11  with the vaccine?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  I'm

         13  sorry, which document?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Well, when the

         15  vaccine is administered, is there anything that's

         16  distributed at the same time in advising of all the

         17  reasons why they should get the vaccine to begin

         18  with?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SEARS:  Well,

         20  there is  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  For the parents,

         22  if the child is nine years old, and I just ask if

         23  that covers, when they get the vaccine, if it covers

         24  why they're getting it and what is responsible for

         25  the effects of not having had the vaccine?
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER SEARS:  Well,

          3  there's a vaccine information sheet that is given to

          4    --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Yes, but does it

          6  deal with sexual behavior?  Does it deal with

          7  multiple partners?  Does it deal with the reasons

          8  that have been cited as to what are the contributing

          9  factors to cervical cancer?

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  It

         11  does talk about why the vaccine is indicated and it

         12  does talk about sexual transmission.  This is given

         13  to parents just like if your child got measles,

         14  mumps, rubella, in the sense of there's this vaccine

         15  information sheet that are given  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Okay.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  --

         18  To, by providers, to parents.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Because the

         20  reason I think that's important is that the drug,

         21  the vaccine isn't an end to the ends, that there are

         22  things that accompany that vaccine and that's a

         23  change in attitude, it's a change in behavior, it's

         24  a change in a lot of things.  That takes the parent

         25  as well as the young person doing that.  I'm saying
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          2  that I would think that that would be important

          3  information at the time of the vaccination, so that

          4  the two would work together.

          5                 How long of a waiting period, unless

          6  that's for Merck too, that if you ran out of the

          7  supply, how long would you have to wait for a

          8  replacement?  Because there is this plan to truly

          9  reach out and to actually distribute to multiple

         10  ages.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Yeah,

         12  right now we have not, I mean, it's hard to answer

         13  that question.  Right now we have not experienced a

         14  delay in, in getting the vaccine, so -

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Well, you have

         16  vaccine on hand for how many individuals,

         17  approximately? Because it's a six month, you've got

         18  three vaccines.  So, the supply that you have on

         19  hand, I mean, you may not know the answer now, but

         20  maybe the Committee could get that information?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  We

         22  could get back to you.  I don't, I know how much

         23  we've distributed, I'm not sure how much  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Maybe Merck could

         25  tell us too, probably.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  I'm

          3  sure how much is in the depot at this moment.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Okay.  Has Merck

          5  provided you with the information as to, because I

          6  remember asking this when you came before the Health

          7  Committee in the early budget Hearings, the

          8  importance of the third vaccination?  What is the

          9  actual effects of the first two if the third is not

         10  taken?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  We, we

         12  don't really know that.  The assumption is that you

         13  need all three to effectively induce protection in

         14  the individual who has gotten it.  So, I don't think

         15  we can answer that question  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Okay, so then  --

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  --

         18  About what happens after two, only two  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  --  Maybe that

         20  would lead to my next question then  --

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Sure.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  --  How many of

         23  those that you have administered have completed the

         24  three series and how many where you have a gap from

         25  the second to the third vaccination? Because you
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          2  have a spread, I think, of about four months.  Do

          3  you? From the second, I mean  --

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Right,

          5  I think it's a little bit early because we sent out

          6  the letter to the VFC providers in mid- November and

          7  then they ordered and we shipped it out.  So, it's

          8  not even clear if they got it by the end of

          9  November, that that individual would be ready for

         10  their third dose yet.  In other words  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Oh, I see  --

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  --

         13  It's a six months  --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  I see, okay.

         15                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  So, I

         16  think it's a little bit too early to make the

         17  statement about that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  So, Merck would

         19  have to provide you with that, because I would

         20  think, because when you look at, think of four

         21  months in that series of three vaccinations and if

         22  there is a drop off, I could see that happening with

         23  the younger age groups.  They're away, they start

         24  holidays, it depends on when the vaccinations are

         25  given and if it happens over summer time, so I could
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          2  anticipate a gap  --

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Right,

          4  we  --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  --  And that

          6  means, what are we doing?  If the first two and you

          7  need the third to make it a complete program and for

          8  them, I question, and that's maybe premature as you

          9  said, but I think that's one of the things to really

         10  look at because I question just, why do the other

         11  two, if they're not going to complete it?

         12                 Perhaps, if they start it and don't

         13  complete it, that needs to be looked at as to the

         14  cost of it.  And, if they're not going to really

         15  follow through on three of them, then I think we

         16  need to question whether the other two should be

         17  done.  That's the only reason why I raise that,

         18  because I don't know, and we don't just, if you need

         19  all three or if the two have partial, that in itself

         20  could give a lot of leeway as to people really go

         21  out and complete the three.

         22                 DR. RAJU:  On the HHC side, it seems

         23  to be our documenting this in the electronic medical

         24  record.  Once we complete the course, we'll be able

         25  to provide you with that additional information to
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          2  you, but they need to complete the course or the

          3  second course before we do it.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Okay, so what

          5  time frame is that in completing, as least what

          6  you're starting to --

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  As we

          8  said, this is only  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  --  Document?

         10                 DR. RAJU:  --  It's only four months

         11  since  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Four months.

         13                 DR. RAJU:  --  We do that, so two

         14  more months  --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Oh, okay.

         16                 DR. RAJU:  --  We need to wait before

         17  they're finished.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  I know, I realize

         19  it's very -

         20                 DR. RAJU:  Yes, yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  --  Young  --

         22                 DR. RAJU:  Very young.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  --  In what we're

         24  doing. Okay, I'll come for a few more, but I'm going

         25  to  --
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Can I

          3  just add one thing to that discussion?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Yes.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  In our

          6  Citywide Immunization Registry, we get the

          7  individual dose.  So, we can, you know, contact the

          8  provider and say, you know after the time has

          9  elapsed and say, this person didn't come back, you

         10  know, we have no record that this person got

         11  vaccinated, say their third dose, please reach out

         12  to them.  So, that's something that we will do.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Okay.  Very good.

         14    There are Committee Members that have questions,

         15  but I think before I call on Councilwoman Dickens,

         16  that Betsy Gotbaum, our Public Advocate, would like

         17  to have some questions answered.

         18                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Thank you.

         19  My office did a recent report on the availability of

         20  the HPV vaccine and we found that none of the City's

         21  immunization STD clinics run by DOMH had the vaccine

         22  available and only, I think, half by HHC had them.

         23  I'm very glad to see that you have decided or agreed

         24  that this is something that must be done and you're

         25  going to have a public education campaign around it
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          2  to make sure people know about it.  So, I certainly

          3  applaud that effort.

          4                 I just wanted to ask a little bit

          5  about how you will get that public education

          6  campaign and to urge you, if you haven't thought

          7  about it, make sure that 3- 1- 1 gets the accurate

          8  information about where the availability is and even

          9  who's eligible, all of those issues that, when we

         10  did the report, they didn't know.  So, I just

         11  wondered if you could give me a break out of that?

         12  Either one.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Right,

         14  you know, in terms of our immunization clinics, I,

         15  we worked, have worked closely with 3- 1- 1 on a

         16  number of immunization initiatives, including our

         17  flu vaccine, which occurs every fall.  So, we have a

         18  good experience in providing them with updates of

         19  information.

         20                 So, when our, when, closer to June

         21  1st, we will be working with them to make sure that

         22  they are aware of what the, you know, who it's

         23  indicated for and where our immunization clinics are

         24  located.  So, I think we've had a real good

         25  experience sort of helping direct people, through 3-
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          2  1- 1, to some of these facilities.

          3                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  No, that's

          4  okay, thanks.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Thank you.

          6  Councilwoman Dickens.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Thank you

          8  Chairs and thank you for your testimony.  Knowing

          9  the barriers of the cost of the vaccine and the

         10  three visits, as part of your information brochures,

         11  media outreach, website, what specifically is HHC

         12  and the Department of Health doing for outreach to

         13  encourage, not to just give the information, but to

         14  encourage after they've gotten the first vaccine to

         15  come back for the follow- up for the second and

         16  third?   Do you have any specific outreach plans for

         17  that?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Well,

         19  what we can do is monitor the uptake of the second

         20  and third dose through our Citywide Immunization

         21  Registry and then do something very targeted, which

         22  is to try to contact the provider and say, this

         23  person did not come in for dose, you know, the time

         24  has now elapsed where this person should have come

         25  in for dose two or dose three and they haven't.  Can
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          2  you please recall them?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  If that is

          4  done after the time had lapsed, is there any good in

          5  coming to get, say dose, the vaccine for two and

          6  three if it's after the six- month or four- month

          7  period?  Is there any point in that?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Yes,

          9  yes, there is, according to the, to the package

         10  insert.  You know, you would just try to catch up.

         11  Let's say, if you missed dose three at the six month

         12  mark, you would still try to bring the person in to

         13   --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  So, catch

         15  up, after the period has expired is just as good

         16  medically as if you did it within the time frame

         17  that's specified?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  I'm

         19  not sure I want to say it's just as good medically,

         20  but you wouldn't not do it. So  --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  So, in other

         22  words, if I came in after the period after, eight

         23  months, nine months  --

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  If you

         25  came one month late, then I would vaccinate you.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  One month.

          3  What about four months?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  I

          5  would vaccinate. I don't, there's no recommendation

          6  to re- start.  Again, is it as good?  I don't know

          7  that that  --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  I mean, is

          9  it effective is really what I'm asking.  Is there a

         10  point to doing it if it's after the period that

         11  you've set forth in your testimony?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Yeah,

         13  I mean, the answer is yes.  If you've done two and

         14  you come back late for the third, you should get the

         15  third.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  All right.

         17  Also, have there been any side effects documented

         18  with either Gardasil or the Cervarix vaccines?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  You

         20  know, I can't speak for Cervarix.  That has not, you

         21  know, all the information about that is not at my

         22  fingertips.  In terms of Gardasil, as one might

         23  predict, the major side effect was pain and  --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Was what?

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Pain
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          2  and tenderness at the injection site.  There were

          3  other things that got reported.  When they do these

          4  studies, they do a vaccine and a placebo and the

          5  recipient does not necessarily know which one you

          6  got.  So, when they compared the vaccine to the

          7  placebo in terms of other complaints or side

          8  effects, there were no differences.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  All right,

         10  so pain and tenderness at the injection site is only

         11  a temporary thing, I would assume.

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:

         13  Correct.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Have there

         15  been any long term side effects that have been found

         16  with either one of the vaccines?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Again,

         18  there's 16 months of follow- up.  In that 16 months

         19  of follow- up, the answer is no.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Also, and I

         21  know that we hear about cervical cancer screening

         22  and prevention, but since HHC gave a small amount of

         23  testimony on mastectomies, private insurance

         24  companies are advocating for mastectomies to be

         25  treated as an outpatient procedure.  There is
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          2  legislation pending now in the House of

          3  Representatives, mandating at least two days

          4  hospitalization.  What is HHC and both Department of

          5  Health, what are your thoughts on that?

          6                 DR. RAJU:  In the hospital facilities

          7  we do not do a mastectomy as an ambulatory

          8  procedure.  They get admitted to the hospital.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  All right,

         10  so, that's what, you know, my question is, because

         11  that's, right now, that's what the private insurance

         12  companies are advocating, my understanding is.

         13  That's why there is legislation pending in the House

         14  of Representatives now.

         15                 So, you know, really what I'm asking

         16  is, would the City Council get support from both HHC

         17  and the Department of Health to ensure that private

         18  insurance companies and Medicaid and Medicare would

         19  cover for at least a minimum of two days of

         20  hospitalization for mastectomies and lipectomies as

         21  well?

         22                 DR. RAJU:  I think absolutely it's

         23  essential that we should have at least a couple of

         24  days, because this is a very traumatic procedure and

         25  doing it ambulatory is really not in the best
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          2  interest of the patient.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Department

          4  of Health?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  You

          6  know, this is not our area of expertise, but I would

          7  certainly, you know, rely on HHC's judgment and be

          8  supportive of that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Thank you.

         10  Now my last question is about the, according to the

         11  testimony, the HPV virus types 45 and 31 are the

         12  most prevalent cancer- causing types.  Do I have

         13  that understanding?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  No,

         15  the, those are ones that are in the next version of

         16  the vaccine that is going to be, we hope, licensed

         17  by the end of  '07.  So, the first version, which is

         18  the Merck product, has a number of different

         19  subtypes, including the two most common that are

         20  associated with cervical cancer, meaning 16 and 18.

         21                 The next vaccine is a little bit

         22  different than the first vaccine in that it doesn't

         23  have the subtypes that cause genital warts, but it

         24  does have two extra subtypes that are, that do cause

         25  cancer.  So, instead of the two leading subtypes
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          2  associated with cancer, you'll have the four leading

          3  subtypes associated with cancer.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Now, the

          5  first vaccine is targeted towards non- sexually

          6  active young women?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Well,

          8  I think that the, the maximum benefit of the vaccine

          9  is prior to, you know, onset of sexual activity,

         10  because once you begin sexual activity, you might be

         11  exposed to one of these subtypes.  But, as you can

         12  see with the age range, it does, you know, you can

         13  certainly begin sexual activity and be eligible for

         14  those vaccines.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  All right

         16  and it would still be just as effective?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Yes,

         18  except for if you have been prior exposed to one of

         19  these subtypes.  It will not do anything to that.

         20  In other words, it won't, you know, somehow get rid

         21  of it or, you know, it won't, the, does that make

         22  sense?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Yes, it

         24  does.  No, I'm following you  --

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Good.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  --  I'm

          3  following you. Does the same apply for the Cervarix

          4  vaccine?  It makes no difference whether you're

          5  sexually active or not or what about the exposure to

          6  the virus? Is really my question.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  You

          8  know, I'm not in a position to, without all the data

          9  that's come out on Cervarix, it's a little bit hard

         10  for me to  --  I, I don't want to hypothesize about

         11  that product until we could really get full

         12  information.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  One last

         14  thing.  As part of your outreach, are you speaking

         15  with, particularly I'm really referring to parents

         16  now, because we're talking about this, at least the

         17  first vaccine, being available for young girls as

         18  young as nine.  Are you just putting printed

         19  information, say, in the clinics or the primary

         20  health care providers' offices or is someone

         21  actually speaking with the parents to encourage them

         22  to obtain this vaccine for their children?

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Well,

         24  I think printed information is great and we're

         25  certainly supportive of that.  Part of our outreach
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          2  to adolescent providers is to be able to try to

          3  engage the parent to talk about it.

          4                 You know, there's a big world of

          5  health care in New York City and be able  --  we're

          6  really involved in trying to reach out to providers

          7  to make sure that they can explain it to the parents

          8  of the patients that they see to, you know, really

          9  understand the beneficial aspects of getting HPV

         10  vaccine for a young girl, essentially, who, you

         11  know, the parent may not be quite ready for thinking

         12  about that or making that decision.  So, part of our

         13  emphasis in speaking to professional groups and

         14  individual physicians is to try to explain that and

         15  go through that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  I ask that

         17  because since it's voluntary, you know, my concern

         18  is for the parents to understand thoroughly the need

         19  for this and any of its side effects and to ensure

         20  that they understand that it, the cost is cover by

         21  Medicaid.  And, if they're not recipients of

         22  Medicaid and do have private health insurance that

         23  doesn't cover it, that there is still availability

         24  for financial assistance.

         25                 DR. RAJU:  Yes, that's correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Thank you so

          3  much.  Thank you for your testimony.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Thank you very

          5  much. Councilwoman Viverito, I believe you have a

          6  question.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  Thank you

          8  Madam Chair. Thank you both for your testimony.

          9  I'll be very brief.  First of all, I wanted to find

         10  out the level of coordination that's happening

         11  between DOH and HHC with regards to this.

         12  Obviously, I'm always interested in maximizing

         13  resources and making sure that we're very effective

         14  in what we're doing.  You both kind of laid out a

         15  level of outreach and course of action, so to speak.

         16  So, to what extent do your two agencies interrelate?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Well,

         18  let me start and then  --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VIVERITO:  Sure.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  --

         21  And then we can continue.  I mean, one issue is that

         22  we provide, we provide the VFC vaccine to HHC.  HHC

         23  sort of orders it from us.  We deliver it to HHC and

         24  work with HHC to track it, make sure it's, you know,

         25  meet, we're meeting their needs.
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          2                 In turn, for example, not on the HPV

          3  issue, but we do PAP screening in our STD clinics.

          4  If there's an abnormal result, we rely on HHC to get

          5  people into referral care, where they can be more

          6  fully evaluated and diagnosed.

          7                 So, you know, quite frankly, from

          8  that perspective, they rely on us to some degree and

          9  we rely on them in terms of cooperation on cervical

         10  cancer, cervical dysplasia and HPV vaccine.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  How

         12  about on the outreach and educational front? Because

         13  you're laying out some stuff and so is HHC, so, just

         14  trying to see if there's an overlap or if that's

         15  being done jointly?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  You

         17  know, I don't we've really fully discussed that yet.

         18    But, it's a good point and certainly anything that

         19  we develop, we will make sure that HHC has and when

         20  they think it's proper to use it, they should use

         21  it.  We're certainly, have a, I think, a good track

         22  record in putting out all our public information out

         23  there for people to use in any way, shape or form

         24  that's appropriate.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:

                                                            62

          1  HEALTH AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  Obviously, my thinking here is that, in terms of

          3  getting the information out there, if there is a

          4  level of coordination we probably could reach a

          5  greater number of people.

          6                 DR. RAJU:  You're absolutely correct.

          7    I think, as in the past, we have very closely

          8  collaborated with the Department of Health on

          9  various other immunizations and other issues and

         10  we'll continue to do the same thing now.  Because

         11  when they do provide education, they also do, HHC

         12  provide education, then we do provide education for

         13  our own doctors.  So, a lot of the things are

         14  really, redundancy built into the system.  So, I

         15  take the suggestion.  I think we will probably

         16  coordinate our outreach activities with the

         17  Department of Health.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Is

         19  their part, I know I've seen and probably I forget

         20  who, it must be probably the pharmaceuticals, but in

         21  terms of I have seen ads, you know, talking about

         22  the HPV virus, et cetera.  So, is part of your

         23  educational outreach and campaign going to be PSAs?

         24  Is it going to be in terms of video, through TV and

         25  maybe radio ads or is it strictly going to be
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          2  pamphlets and flyers?  Do you know or it hasn't

          3  really been developed yet?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Some

          5  of that has not been developed yet, but we were

          6  thinking about websites. Right now, quite frankly,

          7  the, the manufacturer is doing a pretty good job at

          8   --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  That's

         10  very self- serving though.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Well

         12   --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  I

         14  mean, it's, understandably so, but I'm saying it's

         15  also  --

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Oh,

         17  yes, it is self- serving, but I think it is  --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:

         19  Important, of course.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  --

         21  For something to get out, the are very adept at

         22  doing that.  I think, in this case, our, you know,

         23  many of our interests overlap in terms of getting

         24  the message out.  We are, you know, clearly working

         25  through websites as well as brochures and other ways
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          2  of getting the message out.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Okay.

          4  The other thing is, Dr. Raju, you mentioned in your

          5  testimony  --  I hope I pronounced your name right.

          6                 DR. RAJU:  Absolutely.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Okay.

          8  In your testimony about the doses, right? That

          9  you've been gathering doses.  Now, every, there's

         10  three injections for treatment, so the dose is those

         11  three  --  when you say a dose, you're talking about

         12  the three injections, right?

         13                 DR. RAJU:  Yeah.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  It's

         15  not, okay, that's just what I wanted to know.  So,

         16  basically you can serve 5,191 doses is 5,191 people?

         17                 DR. RAJU:  That's right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Okay,

         19  just wanted to clarify.

         20                 DR. RAJU:  We have a, we also

         21  coordinate a campaign, a media campaign with our

         22  Public Relations Department and HHC is coordinating

         23  with Public Relations at the Department of Health to

         24  have the media campaign on this.  So, that's

         25  something which is still they're talking to each
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          2  other and we'll be able to take that suggestion into

          3  consideration.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Then,

          5  just lastly, because you do lay out here the HHC

          6  with regards to the three points you mentioned  --

          7                 DR. RAJU:  Yeah.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  --

          9  But can you provide some sense of a time line?

         10  Because you just mention what you're going to do in

         11  each, but not in terms of when it's, and I don't

         12  know if that was discussed earlier, but when you

         13  project the start?

         14                 DR. RAJU:  The most of them are

         15  really acting concurrently because one has to do

         16  with access, the other one has to do with provider

         17  education, the third one is management utilization

         18  and the fourth one is a public campaign  --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Okay.

         20                 DR. RAJU:  --  So, we need to really

         21  have them running simultaneously because this is a

         22  not a phased program. So, we are making the vaccine

         23  available to the people, at the same time you're

         24  also reaching out to community organizations. At the

         25  same time, we are training our providers to talk
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          2  about it and try to educate the parents and also go

          3  through community organizations, trying to get the

          4  parents to understand what we are trying to do.  So,

          5  it's really a multi- pronged campaign, which will

          6  probably occur at, it's actually occurring, but we

          7  need to speed it up a little more.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  So, if

          9  I, the access to the vaccine then is available?

         10                 DR. RAJU:  The vaccine's available

         11  right now.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Right

         13  now?

         14                 DR. RAJU:  Yes, yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK-VIVERITO:  Okay.

         16  I just wanted to clarify that.  Okay, I appreciate

         17  it.  Thank you very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Thank you.

         19  Councilwoman Arroyo I believe has a few questions.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYA:  Thank you

         21  Madam Chair. Thank you both for holding this

         22  Hearing.  I feel a little smarter today about a

         23  couple of things.  Maybe I misunderstood your

         24  testimony and, both of you, thank you, I'm a fan of

         25  HHC.  I think HHC is probably the premiere health
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          2  care provider in this world, I think, with the

          3  charge of taking care of our, those who need it most

          4  and how you do it is commendable.  Is there no test

          5  for HPV? Is that correct?  It's not a standard of

          6  care to screen for this condition?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  It is

          8  a not a standard of care to screen for the condition

          9  in general.  There are some specific recommendations

         10  for women who have abnormal PAP smears to do some

         11  testing.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  Why is that?

         13  Wait for something to be identified as a problem and

         14  then you proceed with a testing for it.  I think

         15  it's along the lines of Chair Rivera's questioning,

         16  why aren't we screening for it in advance and/or to

         17  prevent, maybe intervene and prevent the cervical

         18  cancer, abnormal Paps from occurring?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Do you

         20  want me to --  okay, you start.

         21                 DR. RAJU:  The reason being that it

         22  is such a migratory disease, it is on  --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  It is a what?

         24                 DR. RAJU:  Migratory, in the sense

         25  that it is on and then it kind of self- curing
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          2  itself and then they get reinfected again.  Then the

          3  question is also there's no real treatment for it,

          4  right, that's not a possibility.  Though there is a

          5  HPV DNA testing, the testing does not differentiate

          6  what type of HPV type virus, virus type you are

          7  infected with.  So, as we, as my colleague

          8  testified, there are certain types of HPV virus that

          9  are more prone to developing cancer as opposed to

         10  other types.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  How many

         12  different types are there?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  I

         14  think there are, overall, 100, of which 30 or 40,

         15  you know, could be sexually transmitted.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  100 types?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:

         18  Overall, yeah, but only about, of the 100, I think

         19  about 40 are spread through sexual transmission.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  Okay, so  --

         21                 DR. RAJU:  Since we cannot determine

         22  which, what type they are infected with, just

         23  testing them and figuring out they are positive with

         24  HPV, per se, doesn't necessarily mean they're going

         25  to, they have the type which will produce cancer.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  It seems a

          3  little frustrating.

          4                 DR. RAJU:  Yes.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Yeah,

          6  it is a complicated story, but one thing I want to

          7  point out is that prevention of all STDs, including

          8  HPV, is a very important part of the picture that we

          9  haven't really discussed.  So, we, through our New

         10  York City Condom campaign and all sorts of things in

         11  all sorts of ways, try to get out that message about

         12  trying to protect yourself or decreasing the number

         13  of partners, for example.  Or, if you're, you know

         14  having sex, use a condom, et cetera, et cetera.  So,

         15  all those are effective ways at decreasing

         16  transmission of all STDs, including HPV.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  With my

         18  background in health care, HPV was not one of the

         19  things that we focused on. We talked about Chlamydia

         20  and, you know, all the other sexually transmitted

         21  diseases.  Why isn't there a more open conversation

         22  about HPV and its potential consequence and the fact

         23  that it can be prevented like all of the other STDs?

         24                 It just seems that we're lagging

         25  behind on the patient education front, both in the
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          2  providers' offices and public health, and from a

          3  public health perspective.  It just concerns me that

          4  we have a vaccine now and we're talking about a

          5  vaccine, but we're not talking about, on the other

          6  end, more emphasis on the prevention of HPV, in

          7  general.  It just seems counter- intuitive to me.

          8  Why is the recommendation up to age 26? What happens

          9  to those women who are older than 26?  Why is there

         10  an age cutoff?

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Well,

         12  the simple answer is, I believe, that's the age

         13  range where the vaccine was study in, because they

         14  wanted to go to the groups, the age groups, that had

         15  the most HPV transmission.  HPV transmission is more

         16  common in the teen years and the 20's than in older

         17  years.

         18                 You know, by the federal guidelines,

         19  you have to stick with the groups that have gotten

         20  the vaccine in the trials. You can't extrapolate and

         21  say, well, 50 year old women or 60 year old women or

         22  two year old children can get the vaccine if you

         23  haven't tested it.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  Do we

         25  understand the phenomenon of why it drops off after
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          2  26?

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  You

          4  know, there are many STDs that have age

          5  relationships  --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  Can you

          7  explain that?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Well,

          9  some of it is physiologic.  For example, the lining

         10  of, you know, in adolescent girls, there is some,

         11  the lining of the walls of the vagina are more

         12  susceptible to infection with Chlamydia than as

         13  women grow older.  So, some of it is a physiologic

         14  change where the ability to infect people or become

         15  infected upon sexual exposure changes because as

         16  women mature their cell types naturally change.  So,

         17  there, my point is that sometimes we know and

         18  sometimes we don't know why there are some age-

         19  related issues in STD transmission.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  And that's

         21  true for all STDs or just HPV?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  No,

         23  what I just mentioned was Chlamydia as an example.

         24  You know, I wouldn't necessarily, I mean anybody of

         25  any age can get an STD.  But, looking at it on a
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          2  broad population basis, for some STDs, there seems

          3  to be some age correlation.  So, we mentioned

          4  Chlamydia; we mentioned HPV.  Syphilis, as an

          5  example tends to be a little bit older age group.

          6  I'm not sure I can explain that reason.  There may

          7  be social issues as well.  You tend to have sex

          8  generally with people around your age range, so that

          9  may also be a cause of spread of STDs in the

         10  population.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  Interesting.

         12  Is there any discussion regarding making the vaccine

         13  a standard of care for the age groups that it has

         14  been studied in?  On the same way we have set up

         15  schedules for immunizations for children, for

         16  example?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Well,

         18  I, I think this is going to be integrated into the

         19  adolescent vaccine standard of care, so, if it isn't

         20  already.  So, it is, because of these publications

         21  that I went through, you know, I think now can be

         22  considered a standard of care.

         23                 The problem is how to get from here

         24  to there as quickly as possible, which is to make

         25  sure that providers understand how, you know, and it
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          2  does take some time to make sure, to, for the public

          3  to understand that it's a really necessary vaccine,

          4  providers to administer it and to work out some of

          5  the financing and other issues.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  So, we can

          7  expect that if I take my granddaughter, I don't have

          8  one, but, to the doctor for an appointment, routine

          9  care, that after the age of nine, one of the

         10  vaccinations that will be recommended and probably

         11  administered, will be this vaccine?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  With

         13  parental consent, you know, it will be recommended

         14  and with parental consent administered.  If that's

         15  the case  --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  And we have

         17  to consent to all vaccines, right?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:

         19  Correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  Okay.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  But,

         22  whether that's the case today  --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  No, no, I  --

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  --

         25  You know, I, it's  --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  --

          3  Appreciate that.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  --  A

          5  little bit hard to  --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  The goal is

          7  to get it there.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:

          9  Correct.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  You indicated

         11  that the ones that would be least likely to have

         12  access to the vaccine would be the women from ages

         13  19 to 26.  Is there a cost benefit analysis to help

         14  us argue that putting funding to provide vaccine for

         15  that age group is prudent and cost- effective for us

         16  as a government or as a City? Because we lose

         17  opportunity to be able to provide the vaccine to

         18  quite a  --  do we know what the number is also?

         19  Which is, maybe you don't have that number here, but

         20  maybe you can help us understand that.

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  We can

         22  look into, you know, the insurance status by 19 to

         23  26 year olds and what we know about it and get back

         24  to you.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  Okay and the
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          2  thought or discussion around an initiative that

          3  would identify funding to make the vaccine available

          4  for those who would probably be in the group who

          5  would complete the doses, as required, but are not

          6  able to because they just financially cannot get

          7  there.

          8                 DR. RAJU:  Just to cover that

          9  particular group, right, people who can't really

         10  afford to pay for it, we have purchased extra

         11  vaccines and we are administering them under the HHC

         12  Option program, where we don't charge them for the

         13  vaccine, just to, for the time period.

         14                 But, you're absolutely right,

         15  eventually, we should be able to find out how many

         16  of these people who couldn't afford it, got the

         17  vaccine through the system.  Then that can give you

         18  an understanding of how big the problem is and what

         19  number of those particular segment of the population

         20  needs some kind of free health financially.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Thank you very

         23  much.  Public Advocate has a follow- up question and

         24  then I have a few after that.  Thank you.

         25                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  Yes, I just
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          2  failed to mention or ask, in your outreach effort

          3  from both organizations, are you working with the

          4  New York City public schools and is there a system

          5  by which you're going to get into the schools? And,

          6  if there is one, maybe you can tell us what it is

          7  and how you're going to make it effective?

          8                 DR. RAJU:  One of the things, I

          9  think, in the effective area to look into that is

         10  probably middle school and high school.  That's

         11  probably, those are the, those kids don't come for

         12  regular check- ups and maybe bring them, this

         13  information to them in the school is probably more

         14  beneficial than having it in a hospital setting

         15  where they won't visit us.  So, that is something we

         16  are, at the present, exploring.

         17                 This is a whole team initiative of,

         18  you know, everything with STD, with HPV, with

         19  teenage pregnancy and even putting something like a

         20  teenage obesity and chronic diseases. So, this could

         21  be an excellent place where you could really

         22  concentrate on these kind of people because these

         23  people do not visit, normally, traditional health

         24  care settings.

         25                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  I see.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  We, we

          3  are already providing HPV vaccine to school- based

          4  health centers to provide vaccination for kids who

          5  are enrolled in that service at the school.  So,

          6  that's  --

          7                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  And how

          8  many, more or less, does that, are you reaching?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  I

         10  don't know how many vaccines we've distributed to

         11  those specific sites, but we can try to get back to

         12  you on that.

         13                 PUBLIC ADVOCATE GOTBAUM:  I'd be

         14  interested to have that information.  Thank you.

         15  Okay, thanks.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Thank you very

         17  much.  I just have one question and it's maybe

         18  difficult to answer, but just let me go through one

         19  thing, I was trying to clear it up so I could phrase

         20  my question properly.

         21                 Of the 100 of those types that have

         22  been identified, 40 are those that can be

         23  transmitted.  Of that, there are two, you cited 16

         24  and 18 that actually leads to 70 percent of cervical

         25  cancer.  If the other vaccine was to become
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          2  available, which is Cervarix, would you be

          3  suggesting, and it might be too soon to answer that,

          4  would that be perhaps suggesting that two of these

          5  different vaccines? Because the other, the Cervarix,

          6  would that be identifying another type of the 40,

          7  which means that they might then have to have two

          8  different forms of vaccines?

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  It

         10  appears that the formulation of the two products are

         11  a bit different.  I think, you know, on the one

         12  side, you have, cover most of the HPV subtypes

         13  associated with cervical cancer and you also offer

         14  protection against genital warts, which is, can be

         15  quite a disfiguring problem.  Then, the newer

         16  product that we anticipate at the end of this year,

         17  there will be additional coverage for additional

         18  subtypes that are associated with cervical cancer.

         19  So, in that sense, has a broader coverage, if you

         20  will, on the cervical cancer.

         21                 I don't think that the public health

         22  recommendations would be to provide both vaccines.

         23  I think that there will have to be some discussion

         24  and understanding of when you would use one or the

         25  other.  I don't think we've, you know, reached that
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          2  stage yet and, in sorting that out.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  I'm going to ask

          4  this of Merck, but I can ask it of you.  Why is it

          5  not suggested for the use of boys of the same age

          6  groups  --

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  The

          8   --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  --  Since the

         10  boys  --

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Yeah.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  --  Are just as

         13  sexually active?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Our

         15  understanding is that there are trials  --  I

         16  totally agree with you, number one.  My

         17  understanding is that there are trials now among

         18  boys and our hope is that that will be an FDA

         19  recommendation in the near future and, again, if you

         20  really hope to deal with a transmission problem, you

         21  also have to deal with the boys and men.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Thank you.

         23  That's why I've asked that question.  Are there any

         24  other questions?  Councilman James Sanders has

         25  joined us from Queens.  Thank you very much for
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          2  being here.

          3                 I just want make one final comment

          4  that the work that is being done is extraordinary.

          5  I think that even though it's very soon, I will see

          6  what's in those brochures that are handed out at the

          7  time of the vaccination because I do believe if it

          8  isn't recommended that the vaccine is not the end

          9  all end, that they need to really be educated as to

         10  why they're taking that vaccine.  It's just not

         11  going to work.  It will work maybe for some, but

         12  it's not going to work for others.  So, I think the

         13  two really have to go together.

         14                 It may sensitive when a mother or

         15  father reads this brochure and he's got a ten year

         16  old that's being inoculated, there may be

         17  difficulties with that, but it would seem to me that

         18  that's a very big issue.  I want to thank you very

         19  much for joining us and your testimony has been very

         20  helpful, very informative, very educational.  Joel,

         21  do you have a comment?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  No, just thank

         23  you very much for joining us here today and I guess

         24  the follow- up questions will be given to Merck, so

         25  they can give us more of the other informational,
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          2  product information that we're looking for.  But,

          3  gentlemen, thank you.

          4                 Next, we do have a representative

          5  from Assemblywoman Amy Paulin here, Susie Rush will

          6  have the opportunity to give testimony.  Thank you

          7  very much Ms. Rush.  If you could just state your

          8  name for the record and you may proceed with your

          9  testimony.  If you have written testimony, just

         10  provide it to the Sergeant- at- Arms and they're

         11  distribute it to us. Thank you.  You may begin.

         12                 MS. RUSH:  Good morning.  My name is

         13  Susie Rush and I'm making this statement on behalf

         14  of New York State Assemblywoman Amy Paulin, who

         15  wanted very much to be here today, but is up in

         16  Albany, as you can expect, working on the budget.

         17                 Assemblywoman Paulin represents the

         18  88th Assembly District, which includes Bronxville,

         19  Eastchester, Pelham, Pelham Manor, Scarsdale,

         20  Tuckahoe and parts of New Rochelle and White Plains.

         21                 The world's first cancer vaccine,

         22  which has the potential to prevent thousands of new

         23  cases of cervical cancer annually is now available

         24  for women.  Together with cervical cancer screening,

         25  the new vaccine will make cervical cancer the most
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          2  preventable form of cancer and nearly eradicate it.

          3                 The American Cancer Society estimates

          4  that approximately 11,150 cases of cervical cancer

          5  will be diagnosed and approximately 3,670 women will

          6  die from cervical cancer in the United States this

          7  year.  The American College of Obstetricians and

          8  Gynecologists estimates that in New York

          9  approximately a thousand women are diagnosed with

         10  invasive cervical cancer and approximately 300 women

         11  die from the disease every year.

         12                 According to ACS, 99.7 percent of all

         13  cervical cancer cases are linked to the Human

         14  Papillomavirus, HPV.  The types of HPV that cause

         15  cervical cancer are sexually transmitted. ACS

         16  estimates that at least 80 percent of sexually

         17  active women in the United States will have HPV by

         18  age 50, with most cases acquired soon after

         19  individuals have sex for the first time. While the

         20  majority of cases resolve on their own, for women

         21  whose body defenses are not sufficient to clear the

         22  virus, cervical cancer can develop later in life and

         23  it can take up to 20 years for an HPV infection to

         24  cause cervical cancer.

         25                 As you have heard, a vaccine against
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          2  the types of HPV linked to most cases of cervical

          3  cancer, Gardasil, was approved last year by the

          4  United States Food and Drug Administration.

          5  Gardasil protects against two types of HPV that

          6  cause about 70 percent of cervical cancers and two

          7  other types of HPV that cause 90 percent of genital

          8  warts.  The CDC and its Advisory Committee

          9  recommended the routine vaccination of girls 11 to

         10  12 years of age, but noted the vaccine can be given

         11  to girls as young as age nine up to age 26.

         12                 Because widespread use of this

         13  vaccination has the potential to greatly reduce the

         14  occurrence of cervical cancer among women, I have

         15  proposed legislation, Bill Number A.5810, to add HPV

         16  to the list of New York State vaccination

         17  requirements.

         18                 My bill leaves to the Department of

         19  Health to determine the age at which girls will be

         20  required to be vaccinated based on ACIP

         21  recommendations.  The current law that provides for

         22  religious and medical exemptions to mandated

         23  immunizations would also apply to the HPV

         24  immunization.  Noting that HPV is a known precursor

         25  to cervical cancer, the American College of
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          2  Obstetricians and Gynecologists supports my

          3  legislation.

          4                 Questions have been raised about the

          5  safety of the vaccine.  CDC maintains a reporting

          6  system, the Vaccine Adverse Event Reporting System

          7  or VAERS, in which recipients of a vaccine can

          8  report adverse effects.  To date, over two million

          9  doses of the vaccine have been distributed with only

         10  80 reports to VAERS. The relatively small number of

         11  reports involves site soreness and swelling,

         12  headaches and a few reports of fainting, all of

         13  which are considered minor and common side effects

         14  of injection.

         15                 In addition, discontinuation rates

         16  after the trials informs us about safety and in the

         17  case of Gardasil, the discontinuation rate after the

         18  trials was less than .1 percent, which is very low

         19  and demonstrates that it is a well- tolerated

         20  vaccine.

         21                 Questions have also been raised about

         22  the effect of the vaccine on a woman's reproductive

         23  system.  Drug manufacturers are prohibited from

         24  conducting a systematic study of pregnant women in

         25  the United States.  However, because Merck's
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          2  clinical trials studied sexually active women age 16

          3  to 26, a number of women who were vaccinated got

          4  pregnant during the studies.

          5                 As a result, Merck was able to study

          6  the largest database of pregnant women to receive a

          7  vaccine.  Based on this randomized sample, it was

          8  determined that there was no impact of the vaccine

          9  on the pregnancy or the fetal outcome, the fetus or

         10  the mother.  In fact, because pregnant women were

         11  included in the trials, the vaccine received a

         12  category B rating from the FDA, all other vaccines

         13  have a category C rating.  A pregnancy registration

         14  for the reporting of adverse effects from the

         15  vaccine has been established in the United States.

         16                 Historically, when CDC has

         17  recommended the vaccination of school- age children,

         18  New York has added such recommended vaccination to

         19  the list of vaccinations required for school entry.

         20  It is important to note that mandated vaccinations

         21  have not been limited to airborne communicable

         22  diseases.  For example, in 1994, the law was amended

         23  to add Hepatitis B to the list of New York State

         24  vaccination requirements.  Hepatitis B, like HPV, is

         25  a sexually transmitted disease.  Likewise, the
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          2  Tetanus vaccination, part of DTP, has long been

          3  mandated despite its transmission by wound

          4  contamination, not person to person contamination.

          5                 Vaccination against HPV has the

          6  potential to significantly reduce cervical cancer

          7  incidence and mortality within our underserved

          8  populations, poor and rural communities and black

          9  and Hispanic communities, which are

         10  disproportionately affected by cervical cancer.  The

         11  American Cancer Society estimates that more than

         12  half of the women in the United States diagnosed

         13  with cervical cancer in 2006 had not had a PAP test

         14  in the last three years.  These women are

         15  disproportionately low income, black and Hispanic

         16  who lacked access to affordable health services.

         17                 Because the vaccine is most effective

         18  when given to individuals before they are infected

         19  with HPV, ACIP recommends that females be vaccinated

         20  before sexual activity.  The American Cancer Society

         21  reports that surveys of teens in the United States

         22  show that almost 25 percent of them had sex by the

         23  age of 15 and 70 percent have had sex by age 18.

         24                 Since school dropout rates begin to

         25  increase as early as age 13, middle school is the
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          2  last public health gate that an entire age group of

          3  individuals pass through together, regardless of

          4  race, ethnicity or socio- economic status.  That's

          5  from the Guttmacher Policy Review from the fall of

          6  2006.  School based immunization is the most

          7  effective way to achieve widespread immunization and

          8  close racial, ethnic and socio economic gaps in

          9  immunization rates  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Thank you very

         11  much.  Our next speaker is Dr. Maureen Killackey and

         12  also Dr. Fitz and Dr. Czuczka.  I hope I'm

         13  pronouncing them correctly.  They all come together,

         14  thank you.  All right, you may decide who goes

         15  first. I guess you all know each other.  So, please

         16  introduce yourself for the record.

         17                 DR. FITZ:  Hi.  I want to say thank

         18  you first for having this Hearing  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Speak closer into

         20  the microphone, because it's all being recorded.

         21                 DR. FITZ:  Okay.  I just wanted to

         22   --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Thank you.

         24                 DR. FITZ:  --  Thank you for having

         25  this Hearing today and inviting us.  My name is
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          2  Bronwyn Fitz.  I'm the Physician Director of

          3  Colposcopy Services at Planned Parenthood of New

          4  York City.  For those of you who may not know,

          5  colposcopy is the microscopic evaluation of the

          6  cervix.  So, we're the ones who are seeing the women

          7  with abnormal PAP tests, evaluating them, doing the

          8  biopsies and performing the treatment for pre

          9  invasive cancerous conditions.

         10                 On a side note, I'm happy to take any

         11  questions at the end, especially regarding those HPV

         12  testing, because it's very complicated.

         13                 Planned Parenthood of New York City,

         14  as you know, is committed to ensuring access to

         15  reproductive health care to those who are most in

         16  need, including people who, for whom age or income

         17  are obstacles to high quality care.  In 2006, we saw

         18  more than 80,000 patient visits.  The majority of

         19  our clients are at or below poverty level.

         20                 Cancer screening and treatment of

         21  pre- invasive cancer changes on the cervix are an

         22  integral part of our services.  In 2006, at Planned

         23  Parenthood, we provided 11,500 PAP tests and of

         24  those, 1,500 were abnormal, requiring further

         25  follow- up and possible treatment.
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          2                 I do want to make a note as well that

          3  between 60 to 80 percent of women with cervical

          4  cancer diagnosed in the U.S. have not had a PAP test

          5  within five years.

          6                 The cervical cancer vaccine,

          7  Gardasil, works to prevent illness.  It, as you

          8  know, protects against four types of the HPV virus

          9  that, together, cause 70 percent of cervical cancer

         10  and 90 percent of genital warts.  As you know, it's

         11  recommended for girls and women age nine to 26.

         12                 At Planned Parenthood we support the

         13  use of the vaccine, as we believe it will have a

         14  large impact on women's health.  We are currently

         15  not offering it yet.  We're in the exploratory phase

         16  to determine financial feasibility.  In the

         17  meantime, we are committed to providing education

         18  and referrals for our clients.  Quite frankly,

         19  providing referrals has been challenging, as many of

         20  the hospitals and community- based clinics still are

         21  not offering it yet, as you've heard about today.

         22                 For us at Planned Parenthood there

         23  are several obstacles, the largest perhaps is the

         24  cost.  The vaccine is very expensive, as you know,

         25  for $360.00 per patient for the three doses.  If you
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          2  considered the 30,000 patients that we saw last year

          3  who would be eligible, that's $10 million in vaccine

          4  alone and the vaccine has to be pre- purchased by

          5  the clinic, with the exception of the VFC- funded

          6  vaccine.  That's provided in advance and that's

          7  free.  But, even if you took out that age group for

          8  us, we still saw 26,246 patients last year who are

          9  19 to 26, which is still nine and a half million

         10  dollars in vaccine cost alone.

         11                 Additionally, the start- up and

         12  maintenance cost of a vaccination program are costly

         13  in itself.  There are significant labor costs with

         14  maintaining the vaccine stock, which is very

         15  precious, we just talked about how much it costs;

         16  the counseling of patients; providing entitlement

         17  screening to get patients enrolled in programs that

         18  will cover the vaccine; not to mention the follow-

         19  up needed to bring out patients back for their

         20  second and third dose, which we've already talked

         21  about as being extremely important and, quite

         22  frankly, very labor intensive.  We have a 50 percent

         23  no show rate.

         24                 So, I'm hopeful that the VFC program

         25  is going to adequately cover our young people.  For
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          2  me, the group that I'm concerned about for access is

          3  that 19 to 26 year old group of women who are

          4  currently uninsured.

          5                 I think the cervical cancer vaccine

          6  is honestly some of the best public health policy or

          7  public health news that we've had in a long time.  I

          8  think we've conquered the science and now we have to

          9  ensure affordability and accessibility.

         10                 DR. KILLACKEY:  Good afternoon now.

         11  My name is Maureen Killackey.  Although I'm here to

         12  represent the American Cancer Society today, I also

         13  will just say, I have to, I'm very pleased that I'm

         14  actually following Planned Parenthood and HHC and

         15  the Department of Health, because we all work

         16  together. Actually, I'm going to compliment

         17  everybody because everybody has given the facts and

         18  the information that is really pertinent to your

         19  Hearings.

         20                 I'm a gynecologic oncologist, so I

         21  take care of women who have cervical cancer and I

         22  don't want to do it again. I've taken care of too

         23  many women in my life, young women, older women,

         24  who, from screening, diagnosis to end of life.  This

         25  is a disease that we really have an opportunity to
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          2  eliminate now.

          3                 I've been a physician in New York

          4  State, trained and educated in New York City, so I'm

          5  very New York City oriented.  My present job is I'm

          6  Deputy Physician and Chief at Memorial Sloan

          7  Kettering Cancer Center.  As I said, I am involved

          8  in our Regional Care Network, I'm the Director, to

          9  bring out prevention, screening and diagnostic and

         10  treatment services to our network.

         11                 Today, I do represent the American

         12  Cancer Society. You have the facts, you have the

         13  information, everybody's been very eloquent today

         14  and especially the two physicians this morning gave

         15  you a very good background on a complex subject

         16  about how the fact is it's now been well established

         17  that Human Papillomaviral infection is the cause of

         18  cervical cancer.  Well established since 1995.

         19                 So, now we have a cancer that we know

         20  the cause and even better now, now we know how to

         21  prevent it.  But, nevertheless, we can't, we can't

         22  forget the basics.  I guess you have our statement

         23  from the American Cancer Society here today, but

         24  I'll just get right to the point because time is

         25  getting late.  The basics are still there.  Basic
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          2  screening is probably the most important way to

          3  reduce and eliminate the deaths from cervical

          4  cancer.

          5                 The PAP smear is not going to be

          6  eliminated by the fact we have this wonderful

          7  vaccine.  In fact, the deaths and the incidence of

          8  cervical cancer, we will not even see an impact on

          9  cervical cancer for at least 20 to 30 years from

         10  now, if we indeed had a full fledged vaccine

         11  program.  Because, as you've heard today, it takes

         12  that long for cervical cancer to develop.

         13                 I think the, in terms of what we

         14  represent in, from the American Cancer Society point

         15  of view is we certainly represent both public as

         16  well as provider education.  I guess if there's one

         17  plea I would make today is there's a lot of good

         18  stuff going on, Planned Parenthood, the DOH here in

         19  the City. I'm on the New York State's Breast and

         20  Cervical Cancer Advisory, the NYS Breast and

         21  Cervical Cancer Education program and actually we're

         22  going to have our first public forum about cervical

         23  cancer prevention and screening in June.

         24                 I guess I would just say there's a

         25  lot of stuff going on.  We can collaborate and I
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          2  think we need to collaborate in terms of educating.

          3  I think the education needs to be both to patients,

          4  you've heard about opening the discussion with

          5  patients, our young, our girls, our parents about

          6  the discussion of the sexually transmitted cancer.

          7  We also need to get the education out to our

          8  providers.

          9                 Another hat I wear is as the American

         10  College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists.  We are

         11  just now beginning a, we got a very generous grant

         12  from the New York State Department of Health to do

         13  provider education throughout the state.  It is a

         14  one- year project.  We're doing this in

         15  collaboration with the New York State Department of

         16  Health, the American Cancer Society and American

         17  College of Ob/Gyn.  We have already exceeded out

         18  goals of scheduling more than 16 grand rounds

         19  throughout the state, both upstate and downstate.

         20                 Prior to giving these grand rounds

         21  educational forums because the information you have

         22  in your panel today, I will tell you, most

         23  physicians in the state don't have.  We've done

         24  this.  We can tell, I can show you this because we

         25  do pre grand round surveys.  So, education,
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          2  provider, as well as  -- and that's all health care

          3  workers, as well as the public.

          4                 In our, in our memo that we sent to

          5  the Committee today, we did give the basic

          6  recommendations for screening and I did say that we

          7  are not going to be able to stop PAP smear

          8  screening.  What the HPV vaccine will do, it will

          9  allow us perhaps to increase the intervals from

         10  screening, but it's not going to be the be all and

         11  end all.  Chairwoman Sears, you've indicated this

         12  several times, it truly is a multi- factorial

         13  approach.  Education, screening will always be there

         14  as well as prevention with the vaccine.

         15                 I think you have a lot of people here

         16  who are very well informed about the HPV vaccine.  I

         17  can also tell you things about it, from a more of an

         18  oncologic or a cancer point of view, but I think the

         19  vaccine is incredibly important.  We also have in

         20  our handout the recommendations that the American

         21  Cancer Society, in concordance with the CDC and

         22  everybody else.  We're all, we're all here together

         23  in this, I think agree upon the need for when we do

         24  prevention.

         25                 So, finally, I just would like to say
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          2  is I would frankly open the opportunity and I'm

          3  sorry the other physicians aren't here from the New

          4  York City DOH and the HHC because there's a lot of

          5  good stuff going on in the state and I don't want

          6  everybody to recreate the wheels.  We have a CME-

          7  approved grand rounds presentation that we'd be more

          8  than happy to share. We have all kinds of other

          9  things going on, also at a state- level from the New

         10  York State Breast and Cervical Cancer Detection

         11  Project.  So, I think the goal now is to also save

         12  resources and collaborate.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  I think your

         14  suggestion is a good one and I will speak with

         15  Councilman Rivera and perhaps we can have a round

         16  table of those that are on this, the way we did with

         17  the task force and pull together all of you at this

         18  round table, so that we can come out with some very

         19  specific guidelines as to how we really pull all of

         20  it together.  Then, see how we can be effective as a

         21  unit  --

         22                 DR. KILLACKEY:  Exactly.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  --  In order to

         24  do that.  One question, and I agree with you that

         25  the wealth of information that's come into the
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          2  Chamber this morning is really pretty astounding.

          3  I'm concerned about, I think you said you had about

          4  a 50 percent dropoff.  Although I raised it earlier

          5  and it's too soon to really to tell because they

          6  just started it.

          7                 Although I don't think there can be

          8  anything punitive if someone does not complete the

          9  third vaccine, but it seems to me if they're not

         10  willing to do that and to go with the two, that

         11  might be preventing someone else from having it.

         12  Because, as this moves along, it seems like that's a

         13  very unfair situation and certainly non- committal

         14  to the health of that individual, whether it be a

         15  child or a teenager or a young adult.

         16                 Do you have any suggestions about

         17  that? Because this, raise that when the HHC came

         18  before the Health Committee in their initial budget

         19  Hearings.  I'm glad that you put it into dollars and

         20  cents, because the bottom line is dollars and cents

         21  and that's a lot of money we're talking about.  And,

         22  as more and more take advantage of this, we're

         23  talking about an infusion in the City of New York of

         24  millions and millions of dollars.

         25                 It would seem to expend that kind of
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          2  dollars, we need to look at the commitment to do

          3  this, as much as we know what it leads to, but there

          4  has to be a commitment to complete the three series.

          5    Do  --

          6                 DR. FITZ:  I think that  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  --  You think

          8  that's something that we need to really look at as

          9  the information unfolds from the time that they've

         10  just started this?  I realize it's all very fresh

         11  for the City of New York.

         12                 DR. FITZ:  Well the 50, I do think

         13  it's something to look at.  The 50 percent no show

         14  rate is sort of generalized across all of our

         15  services.  So, we're not offering the vaccine right

         16  now, so I certainly didn't mean to say that's what

         17  we've seen in our vaccine  --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Oh, I

         19  misunderstood.

         20                 DR. FITZ:  --  It's just all our

         21  services.  We don't offer the vaccine right now, so

         22  we have no experience with that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  You did say that,

         24  yes.

         25                 DR. FITZ:  But that, so I was just
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          2  generalizing.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Which would be a

          4  good, fairly good assumption, in terms of that 50

          5  percent drop off.

          6                 DR. FITZ:  I think it's labor

          7  intensive to bring patients back proactively.

          8  There's, you know, different ways you can try to do

          9  patient reminders.  You can do them in advance by

         10  phone, by letter, by text message or you can just

         11  try to catch people after they've missed their

         12  appointments.  Either way you go, it takes manpower.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Exactly and that

         14  manpower is very expensive.  You know, there was a

         15  time in this City when we paid people to take their

         16  medicine for tuberculosis.  We actually supervised

         17  their taking it and we paid them in order to do

         18  that. I do believe we've stopped that process right

         19  now.  It was just a question to be asked, because I

         20  can tell you when we can have these and it's

         21  wonderful to do that and it ultimately comes back to

         22  that bottom line and what we're doing with budget

         23  each year. Right now, we're looking at a budget for

         24  $57 billion and it keeps going up each year.  So  --

         25                 DR. KILLACKEY:  May I, may I just add
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          2  one thing?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Sure.

          4                 DR. KILLACKEY:  In terms of trying to

          5  increase compliance, again, we don't have the data,

          6  I don't think Planned Parenthood was saying that.

          7  That's not the data for the, that vaccine  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  I understand

          9  that.

         10                 DR. KILLACKEY:  Certainly in the

         11  trials I think the dropout rate was only one percent

         12  actually.  So, it was actually very small.  But I

         13  think that's one of the reasons, I think, as a

         14  public policy committee and all of us who have

         15  interest public health have to think about is that's

         16  one of the reasons for mandating the vaccine.  If

         17  it's attached to a school based program you're going

         18  to have to get it if you're going to be and complete

         19  the series.

         20                 The other thing is I think this is

         21  another area for collaboration with the school-

         22  based health care system.  So, lots of opportunities

         23  to fix that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  I think there may

         25  be some legal questions about mandating it, but if
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          2  there are, I think that they shall certainly be

          3  explored with the opt out and they do.  Are there

          4  any, do you have anything?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  I actually have

          6  a wacky idea or maybe it's innovative, who knows, I

          7  guess it depends on who's listening and who  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  I like that it's

          9  coming from a male  --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  --  Recognizes

         11  it.  Peer to peer is always a great tactic in terms

         12  of education and making sure that the information

         13  gets disseminated appropriately.  We know that

         14  standard marketing and education campaigns are not

         15  as effective as we wish they can be.

         16                 Has there been any, since we're

         17  targeting 11, 12, 15, up to the age of 26 years old,

         18  has there been any conversation on utilizing

         19  vehicles such as My Space and YouTube, you know, to

         20  reach out to this population who we know is pretty

         21  much attached to the hip with most of these internet

         22  websites that, you know, there are millions and

         23  millions of these youngsters out checking up every

         24  single day.  Has there been an effort to do peer to

         25  peer on these types of vehicles?
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          2                 DR. FITZ:   We haven't addressed that

          3  specifically at Planned Parenthood, but I think it's

          4  a fantastic idea, absolutely.  The one thing I will

          5  say is that, I can't remember who at the beginning

          6  of the session mentioned that Merck has been

          7  actually doing the most advertising.  I have to say,

          8  their advertising has been overwhelmingly successful

          9  from my end, because as I see patients, I can tell

         10  you just about every single patient I see says, you

         11  know, can I get the HPV vaccine?  Where can I get

         12  it?  Am I eligible?  I already have an annual PAP

         13  test, can I still get it?  I can't tell you how many

         14  hours a day I spend counseling patients.  So, you

         15  know, the patients I see know about it and want it.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay.

         17                 DR. KILLACKEY:  I was just going to

         18  add that, as Dr. Fitz indicated, the company has

         19  been extraordinarily aggressive, if you just turn on

         20  the TV, you'll see the ads for HPV and talk to your

         21  physician or talk to your provider about HPV.

         22                 I would tell you that peer to peer

         23  and getting into the schools is very important.

         24  But, for a brief crazy period in my life when I

         25  worked in central rural Upstate New York, which is
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          2  considered an Appalachian area and we also had a

          3  high prevalence of cervical cancer, getting into the

          4  schools there where there might be other kinds of

          5  issues, social, religious, et cetera, was very hard.

          6    But, I think you've got to get into the schools

          7  and talk to the kids, show them some pictures of

          8  some genital warts and then you'll get the vaccine.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you

         10  ladies.  Any other questions?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Okay.  I want to

         12  thank you very, very much.  You'll be hearing from

         13  us to get some more of your brain power there.  Our

         14  next panel is Richard Haupt, MD, from the Merck

         15  Vaccine Division and also Matt Badalucco.  He's

         16  Merck Government Affairs.  Two very important people

         17  this morning, along with everybody else.  Please

         18  identify yourself for the record.

         19                 MR. BADALUCCO:  My name is Matt  --

         20  here we go, my name is Matt Badalucco.  I'm a

         21  Government Affairs Manager for Merck

         22  Pharmaceuticals.

         23                 DR. HAUPT:  Hi, Rick Haupt  --

         24                 MR. BADALUCCO:  There you go.

         25                 DR. HAUPT:  Not well enough.  Rick
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          2  Haupt, I'm a physician/pediatrician with the Merck

          3  Vaccine Division.  So, I'll start.  Thank you very

          4  much for having me here and for inviting Merck.

          5  Good afternoon.

          6                 I'm going to try to go very quickly.

          7  I have a slide set I'm going to use to present some

          8  data.  I have handouts that I've provided to you.

          9  I'm not going to go through all of them and all of

         10  the detail.  I wanted to hit some of the high points

         11  of the vaccine.

         12                 Gardasil was licensed, as you know,

         13  in June of 2006.  It is a, what's called a

         14  recombinant vaccine that uses the virus- like

         15  particles of the proteins that define these

         16  different HPV types.  You've heard that there are

         17  about 40 different HPV types that affect the general

         18  region.  About 15 of those 40 are the ones that can

         19  cause cancer.  It turns out that 16 and 18 of those

         20  15, those two types cause about 70 percent of all

         21  cervical cancers.  So, we incorporated those two

         22  types in the vaccine.  We also included six and 11

         23  because of the clinical disease that those two types

         24  cause, which I'll get to.

         25                 But, this vaccine is made much like
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          2  our Hepatitis B vaccine.  We basically make the

          3  vaccine in bakers yeast.  We get the yeast to make

          4  these proteins in their purified form.  We

          5  incorporate them into a vaccine.  It's given in

          6  three doses into the muscle, using our aluminum

          7  adjuvant that we've used for over 20 years.  This is

          8  Gardasil, recommended for all females in the United

          9  States, between essentially nine and 26 years of

         10  age.

         11                 Why do we include the four types in

         12  Gardasil? Sixteen, 18, you've heard are the two most

         13  important cancer causing strains.  They also lead to

         14  a lot of abnormal, you know, precancer that causes

         15  abnormal Paps.  Six and 11, in addition to causing

         16  most of the genital warts, about 90 percent, they

         17  also cause about ten to 15 percent of abnormal PAP

         18  tests through causing low- grade cervical dysplasia.

         19                 They also cause an infection of the

         20  respiratory tract, the larynx, in both infants and

         21  children.  Something call recurrent respiratory

         22  papillomatosis.  These four types cause most of the

         23  clinical disease of all those 40 HPV types.  So

         24  although there are 40 that cause, in general,

         25  infection, these four cause most of the diseases.
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          2                 Here, this represents the different

          3  clinical disease states caused by the four types

          4  that are contained in Gardasil.  By the way, there

          5  was a question about Glaxo's vaccine.  That is a 16

          6  and 18 vaccine.  It has the same two types that we

          7  have that are cancer strains, without the six and

          8  11, warts and over coverage.

          9                 We designed our clinical trials to

         10  look at disease end points.  Because, it's important

         11  to recognize that most women who get infected with

         12  these types actually clear those infections.  There

         13  are a small number of people who actually get

         14  infected that go on to developing precancers and

         15  then a smaller number that go on to developing

         16  cancer.

         17                 It's important to look at the highest

         18  grade precancers as your marker for whether this

         19  vaccine would prevent cervical cancer.  That's what

         20  this slide represents.  We looked at this highest

         21  grade precancer as the end point, CIN Two and Three.

         22                 We also, as I'll show you, looked at

         23  some other disease end points.  We looked at CIN Two

         24  and Three caused by 16 and 18.  We also, it turns

         25  out, and I'm not sure we talked about this this
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          2  morning, vulvar and vaginal cancers, a majority of

          3  those are also caused by HPV.  So, we looked at 16

          4  and 18 and it's, if we could prevent vulvar and

          5  vaginal precancers caused also by types 16 and 18.

          6                 Then, we wanted to assess, what's the

          7  overall impact of the four types and this vaccine's

          8  ability to prevent cervical disease caused by any of

          9  those four types.  Then, lastly, the genital warts,

         10  which are mostly caused by six and 11.

         11                 So, I'm going to show you a bunch of

         12  slides with data.  You've heard this and seen it in

         13  the media and the like. This is a very, very

         14  effective vaccine.  We basically saw that in women

         15  who were not yet infected with one of these four

         16  types, who received Gardasil, the protection rate

         17  was 100 percent.  That means we prevented 100

         18  percent of the cases of, in this case here, CIN Two

         19  and Three.  All the cases we saw were only in the

         20  placebo recipients.

         21                 If you looked at just CIN Three,

         22  which is basically non- invasive cervical cancer, we

         23  saw 100 percent efficacy.  If you look at vulvar and

         24  vaginal precancers, we saw 100 percent efficacy.  If

         25  we looked at low- grade vulvar and vaginal
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          2  precancers, the VIN One and Two, we saw 100 percent.

          3  These are the efficacy against any type of cervical

          4  disease caused by the four types, 95 percent

          5  efficacy and 99 percent efficacy as to general

          6  warts.

          7                 So, this is the kind of data from

          8  the, from the protection standpoint, the efficacy

          9  standpoint, that led to licensure and the

         10  recommendation for the use of this vaccine by the

         11  ACIP and by the major professional societies to be

         12  as broadly a recommendation as it stated.

         13                 What's important here is that we, we

         14  studied all women 16 to 26 years of age, regardless

         15  of whether they were sexually active.  And, why is

         16  that important?  Why that's important is it tells

         17  you that, what I can tell you is that most of the

         18  women who were sexually active in our trials would

         19  actually benefit from the vaccine.

         20                 Being sexually active does not equal

         21  being exposed to the four types in Gardasil.  In

         22  fact, three quarters of the women in our study,

         23  although they were sexually active, were negative to

         24  all four types.  That means three quarters of the

         25  women would benefit from protection against all four
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          2  types.

          3                 Most women who were infected were

          4  infected with only one type.  Therefore, they would

          5  have benefit from being prevented from the other

          6  three there in Gardasil.  We demonstrated that if

          7  you're already infected with one type, the efficacy

          8  against the other three was not impacted by, by that

          9  present infection.

         10                 Less than .1 percent of our study

         11  recipients were actually negative, excuse me, were

         12  positive to all four types. That's the percent of

         13  the women who would have no benefit from this

         14  vaccine, .1 percent, a very small population.

         15                 As I mentioned, the efficacy findings

         16  that we saw were demonstrated across all different

         17  demographics.  We did studies in 33 countries around

         18  the world.  We had representation from, we had

         19  blacks, African American, blacks of African descent

         20  in Latin America, Hispanics and we did, a large

         21  groups of our patients came from Europe and the U.S.

         22  as well.  So, the efficacy findings were the same no

         23  matter what you looked at.  Again, we showed that if

         24  you were infected with one type, the efficacy

         25  against the other three was virtually 100 percent.
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          2                 The antibodies that are generated

          3  from the vaccine are substantial.  They're actually

          4  higher than natural infection, that's what this

          5  slide 12 shows.  We've also demonstrated that for

          6  all four types that antibody now has shown

          7  persistence for five years and we've seen no

          8  breakthrough cases at five years. That doesn't mean

          9  the vaccine only lasts five years.  That's our

         10  current knowledge to date.  We actually, through

         11  other data, expect this vaccine will probably last

         12  longer than that.  But, we can say, without any

         13  doubt, that it lasts at least five years. Again,

         14  it's likely going to be lasting longer.

         15                 We have long- term surveillance

         16  programs to assess the duration of the efficacy of

         17  the vaccine, as well as the duration of safety and

         18  other, other valuations.

         19                 This was the data from our studies in

         20  the younger adolescent nine to 15 years of age.

         21  Remember, you can't do efficacy studies in this age.

         22    We can't actually look for disease reduction

         23  because these are non- sexually active young

         24  adolescents who are not being infected with HPV and

         25  don't develop disease.
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          2                 So, what we looked at is their immune

          3  response and their immune response measured by the

          4  amount of antibody they produced was no different

          5  and, in fact, it was higher than what you would see

          6  in the population where we showed substantial

          7  diseases reduction.  This is not unusual for any

          8  vaccine, by the way.  The younger, younger

          9  adolescent and child is a much better at immune

         10  response than you are as an adult.  By the way, our

         11  immune system is already decaying by our mid- teens.

         12    That's pretty sad to say but true.

         13                 This is the evidence that supports

         14  why vaccinating the young adolescent is likely to

         15  have very high efficacy as well and likely to have a

         16  durable immune response in addition.

         17                 Then, I have couple of slides that

         18  address safety. By far and away, the main thing that

         19  we saw in our clinical trials were local reactions

         20  to the vaccine.  We saw soreness and redness and

         21  swelling at the injection site.  We saw, in terms of

         22  systemic- type reactions, things like headache,

         23  fever, dizziness, to be the more common and they

         24  were, occurred a little more often in the Gardasil

         25  recipients than the placebo recipients.  None of
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          2  these things really led to people discontinuing from

          3  the study. We, we did not see really serious adverse

          4  events or new medical conditions in any greater

          5  amount in our vaccine group compared to our placebo.

          6    But, again, there are long- term surveillance

          7  studies in place to assess safety for the vaccine.

          8                 I'll stop there in the interest of

          9  time and perhaps answer questions that you may have.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Are we going to

         11  hear  --  see, I have the same problem as you do.

         12                 DR. HAUPT:  Yeah, I pressed the

         13  button, actually, I didn't, not hard enough.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  I know, it gets a

         15  little confusing, when it's on, it's off and when

         16  it's off, it's on, so --

         17                 DR. HAUPT:  Right, exactly.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  That's how we do

         19  things.  Are we going to hear from Dr. Badalucco?

         20                 MR. BADALUCCO:  No, I'm not a doctor,

         21  but  --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Okay, oh  --

         23                 MR. BADALUCCO:  --  You are going to

         24  hear  --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  --  All right  --
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          2                 MR. BADALUCCO:  --  Only if it

          3  applies  --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  --  Well  --

          5                 MR. BADALUCCO:  --  To my area of

          6  expertise.

          7                 DR. HAUPT:  He's a  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  It's okay.

          9  You're so involved with this that you're a legal

         10  counsel, so there you are.  That's very important.

         11  Councilman Sanders has a question, but you are legal

         12  counsel.  Have you, is the opt out, does that

         13  constitute the legality for mandating this if they

         14  have an opt out to this vaccine, those that are in

         15  the schools?  I just want to know what the legality

         16  would be in mandating if New York City or New York

         17  State was to mandate that this vaccine was to be

         18  administered within the various age groups.

         19                 MR. BADALUCCO:  Well, I am, I am not

         20  a  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  And my question

         22   --

         23                 MR. BADALUCCO:  --  Legal counsel, I

         24   --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  --  Is does the
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          2   --

          3                 MR. BADALUCCO:  --  What's the

          4  question?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  --  Opt out.

          6                 MR. BADALUCCO:  The opt out?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Yes, make that

          8  possible?  All right, we'll  --

          9                 MR. BADALUCCO:  I'm not sure.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  --  Find out

         11  about that. Councilman Sanders has a question.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Thank you

         13  very much Madam Chair.  Her question was, basically,

         14  can people say no, they don't want it?  However, as

         15  you ponder those things, I want to return to the

         16  question of the side effects, sir.  You mention that

         17  the side effects, in your studies at least, have

         18  been, relatively speaking, minor.  What percentage

         19  of the population in these tests were hit with these

         20  side effects and was there any group, in particular,

         21  that experienced them more than any other?

         22                 DR. HAUPT:  Yes, if you look at the

         23  slide that I've left up on the screen, you can see

         24  that the, the most common adverse event we saw were

         25  local reactions at the site and they occurred in
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          2  about 80 percent of the recipients.

          3                 What I'm showing here is actually two

          4  different placebo studies that we, or populations,

          5  we had a placebo that was just a normal saline,

          6  meaning that the individuals were injected with salt

          7  water.  You can see that half of them complained of

          8  a local reaction at the sire.  So, the mere, the

          9  point is that if you inject, if you stick a needle

         10  in somebody's arm and it's saline, half of them will

         11  actually get soreness from that act alone.

         12                 Another, then you can see our, we had

         13  a placebo, we used just our aluminum and the rest of

         14  the, what was in the vaccine, except for the vaccine

         15  particles, if you will, except for these virus- like

         16  particles.  So, that's the other placebo, the

         17  aluminum containing placebo.  You can see that you

         18  get an additional local reaction from that and then

         19  you get another small percent increase from the,

         20  from the virus- like particles. About 80 percent get

         21  a local reaction.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  How long did

         23  the local reaction last?

         24                 DR. HAUPT:     Yeah, these were,

         25  these typically last for a day or two and they're
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          2  usually mild or moderate and, again, most people did

          3  not discontinue from the study.  Also, I would just

          4  remind you that the way we captured this data is we

          5  had individuals complete what's called a vaccine

          6  report card. So, they actually kept a record, a

          7  diary for two weeks after vaccination.  So, what you

          8  end up doing is you prompt for some of these things.

          9    So, some of the adverse events that actually show

         10  up in clinical vaccine trials are things that people

         11  wouldn't ordinarily complain about unless you were

         12  asking about it.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Let's talk

         14  pain, sir  --

         15                 DR. HAUPT:  Sure.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  --  How long

         17  did the pain last and how extreme was it?

         18                 DR. HAUPT:  Yeah, so again, we, we

         19  looked at different components of the local

         20  reaction.  We looked at pain, looked at swelling and

         21  we looked at redness and gauged all those by

         22  categories of mild, moderate and severe.  Across all

         23  three of those different severities in that

         24  category, they were mostly mild and the second

         25  category was moderate.  There were rarely severe and
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          2  less than .1 percent of people stopped the study

          3  because they were concerned about that reaction

          4  happening the next time they got the vaccine or

          5  placebo.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Yes, I

          7  commend you on the, having a lot, you've done a lot

          8  of trials here sir.  That part is commendable.

          9  Thank you very much.  Thank you Madam Chair.

         10                 DR. HAUPT:  You're welcome.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Thank you.  Do

         12  you have a question?  I just have one or two, which

         13  I raised earlier with HHC.  When you distribute the

         14  vaccines, what kind of brochures do you distribute

         15  with it?  I know everyone in the room has heard me

         16  asked this before.  Meaning that in addition to

         17  doing this, there also has to accompany why they're

         18  having this vaccine and what actually creates and

         19  causes this kind of cervical cancer.  So, do you

         20  have brochures that can be used and given out?

         21  Because we don't have any and if you do, I'd like

         22  the Committee to have them.

         23                 DR. HAUPT:  Yeah, we  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  And, exactly what

         25  are the contents of it?  Does it talk about
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          2  attitude, sexual behavior? Does it talk about all

          3  the things to prevent this besides your vaccine?

          4                 DR. HAUPT:  Yes.  So, we  --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Which is?

          6                 DR. HAUPT:  We, yeah, thank you for

          7  the question Madam Chair.  The, it's actually, it's

          8  been unusual for Merck or any pharmaceutical company

          9  to literally engage consumers with educational

         10  information about a vaccine.  This is actually an

         11  unusual situation.  We recognize and the public

         12  health community recognize that the knowledge base

         13  around HPV and its link to cancer and other diseases

         14  was very low.  This is true, not only just

         15  consumers, by the way, it's true in some provider

         16  communities.  So, we've, we've engaged in a fairly

         17  comprehensive efforts to educate consumers because

         18  an educated consumer is more likely to accept and

         19  want the vaccine if they know the consequences of

         20  HPV.

         21                 Our, we, so we do have consumer

         22  information that we provide and make available for

         23  consumers to be educated.  We have brochures.  We

         24  have websites.  We have something called a patient

         25  package insert, which is a two- page information
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          2  about the disease and the vaccine.  We make all of

          3  those things available through our website and

          4  through Merck.  We also make them available through

          5  the provider organizations and the providers that

          6  families are going in to see.

          7                 We believe that Gardasil is really

          8  part of a three- pronged approach to reducing or

          9  preventing cervical cancer. Number one is abstinence

         10  or avoidance of sexual activity before marriage for

         11  the young adolescent.  Number two, Gardasil as

         12  primary prevention.  And, number three, screening.

         13  So, we engage in our educational efforts with

         14  consumers around those three issues.

         15                 We, we specify that HPV is a sexually

         16  transmitted infection and that it is, is, the only

         17  way to avoid getting HPV is to avoid sexual contact

         18  of any kind.  Actually, in our information, we often

         19  avoid abstinence because abstinence doesn't mean the

         20  same thing to everybody.  If I said abstinence in

         21  one family, they might think just sexual

         22  intercourse.  But, in fact, the way you prevent

         23  getting infected with HPV is to avoid any sexual

         24  contact with the genital region.  Intimate sexual

         25  contact allows transmission.  It's not just sexual
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          2  intercourse.

          3                 So, we educate around the avoidance

          4  of sexual activity in all of our patient

          5  information, as well as information about HPV

          6  disease and the vaccine and screening. Screening is

          7  a very important part of our, our educational

          8  process as well.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Are those in

         10  different languages  --

         11                 DR. HAUPT:  Yes they are.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  --  That you

         13  distribute to your providers?

         14                 DR. HAUPT:  They are.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  What languages

         16  are they in?

         17                 DR. HAUPT:  They're, I don't even,

         18  you know, I'm not marketing  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  I understand  --

         20                 DR. HAUPT:  --  So I can't give you

         21  the  exact  --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  --  I know it's

         23  not a fair question for you, but perhaps Government

         24  Affairs  --

         25                 DR. HAUPT:  No, I'm not sure Matt
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          2  knows it.  There are, I don't know how many

          3  languages we're up to now.  There's certainly, you

          4  know, obviously the first two were English and

          5  Spanish, but we've expanded that to include other

          6  languages beyond those two most important languages

          7  in the United States. I don't know how many.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Okay, because New

          9  York City has several languages that I think we came

         10  out of the Health Committee a few years ago as to

         11  what we had to do, particularly when it involved the

         12  HHC and the Department of Health in what we were

         13  doing in our facilities.

         14                 DR. HAUPT:  Yeah, I think that's  --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  So, they would

         16  need to have that.

         17                 DR. HAUPT:  And it's that kind of,

         18  you know, we work, try to work closely with the

         19  public health community in the states, as well as

         20  the national level, and try to understand what the

         21  needs are.

         22                 Our, one of our television

         23  commercials that was, which was part of our disease

         24  awareness campaign, the Tell Someone campaign, has a

         25  Spanish version that's been aired on Telemundo and
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          2  Univision and those Spanish- speaking stations as

          3  well.  But, we'll try to find it, you want to know

          4  the exact languages that we have information, I'll

          5  try to get that for you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Do you think you

          7  can also provide the Committee with those brochures

          8  that you distribute?

          9                 DR. HAUPT:  Yes.  We can get, we can

         10  get, yes, no problem.

         11                 MR. BADALUCCO:  We can get those to

         12  you.  I mean, how do we make them available,

         13  generally through doctors' offices, is that how or

         14  providers?

         15                 DR. HAUPT:  And then consumers can

         16  actually get them, they can get them directly as

         17  well.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Okay, but we were

         19  talking about access.  So, if the HHC and the City

         20  agencies are doing this, or will do it, they need to

         21  have that information that will go along with that

         22   --

         23                 DR. HAUPT:  Right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  --  Because

         25  earlier we were talking about access and that's very
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          2  key.

          3                 DR. HAUPT:  Yeah, we have individuals

          4  who work with the, at the state level, who can, who

          5  have, who can work with HHC and others to provide

          6  that information.  So, our group and teams that work

          7  at the different state level can get that

          8  information to you as needed.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Thank you.  I

         10  would appreciate that.  One last question.  I asked

         11  before, to be totally effective, do you need the

         12  three inoculations in that series of three?  What

         13  happens if there is this drop off for that third

         14  inoculation?

         15                 DR. HAUPT:  The data that I showed

         16  you, and I'm going to go back to it for a second,

         17  even though it's all 100 percent anyway, for the

         18  most part.  This data is based on women who received

         19  all three injections.  Then, after they completed

         20  the third injection, they were followed for disease

         21  prevention.

         22                 We also had an analysis where we

         23  began looking for the prevention of disease after

         24  just one dose.  What we demonstrated was in this,

         25  what's called an attention to treat population.  So,
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          2  if you get one dose and then you start looking for

          3  any kind of effect, we saw very high prevention of

          4  disease after one dose.

          5                 Now, that doesn't mean you only need

          6  one dose. That means that while you're in the course

          7  of the series itself, you're already seeing

          8  efficacy.  So that women, until they finish the

          9  series, will see some efficacy after one dose and

         10  two dose and three doses.  The, we don't know

         11  whether you can give less than three.  That's the

         12  answer to your question.

         13                 The recommendation is you should get

         14  all three. The studies were done under that premise.

         15    We know that those three doses will produce very

         16  high efficacy and will also produce the durable

         17  immune response.  That's really the key, is that you

         18  need the three to have a long- term protection.

         19                 Will there be some protection after

         20  one dose while they're completing the series?  Yes,

         21  because we saw that.  We have analysis that will

         22  demonstrate.  It doesn't, but the important caveat

         23  is they have to complete the series.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  What is the

         25  booster shot?
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          2                 DR. HAUPT:  There is no

          3  recommendation for a booster shot at this time  --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Because we heard

          5   --

          6                 DR. HAUPT:  Yeah, there's no

          7  recommendation.  The vaccine, our vaccine has been

          8  licensed that we have data for five years.  With any

          9  vaccine, it takes many, many years of following

         10  vaccines after they're licensed to know if and when

         11  a booster is ever necessary.  Hepatitis B vaccine is

         12  a vaccine that's been around since 1986.  There's no

         13  booster needed and this may be similar.

         14                 So, importantly, we have, we do have

         15  surveillance projects to assess that over time.

         16  Right now, there's no recommendation.  The

         17  recommendation is you get three doses over six

         18  months to a year in the beginning and that's it.

         19  That's all you have to do unless something changes

         20  down the road.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  My final question

         22  is that down the road, do you anticipate having the

         23  male species take this vaccine?  I mean, since it

         24  takes two to tango.

         25                 DR. HAUPT:  Yeah, a lot of people
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          2  call the males the vectors in this, in this game.

          3  You know, we, I think, you know, my answer will be

          4  similar to what you heard.  We believe that

          5  vaccinating men is very important.  One, they  --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  I would think so.

          7                 DR. HAUPT:  Yes, they develop

          8  disease, I mean, they develop genital warts.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  They also give

         10  it, so  --

         11                 DR. HAUPT:  Right.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  --  At the same

         13  time  --

         14                 DR. HAUPT:  They develop disease

         15  themselves. There are penile cancers are, there are

         16  some penile cancers caused by HPV.  Anal cancers in

         17  gay men are virtually exclusively caused by HPV.

         18  And, they are the transmitters, they are the

         19  vectors.  So, there, it's important to vaccinate

         20  men.

         21                 We have not, we do not have efficacy

         22  data in men. We didn't do immunogenicity and safety

         23  studies in the younger adolescent males.  I can tell

         24  you that a nine to 15 year old male has the same

         25  immune response and safety profile as a female. But,
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          2  I can't tell you today that if you give this vaccine

          3  to a male that it will prevent warts or prevent

          4  penile disease or anal disease.  Those studies are

          5  ongoing.  We should have that data in a couple of

          6  years and we hope, at that point, to be able

          7  immunize men.

          8                 I should tell you that outside the

          9  United States, other regulatory agencies looked at

         10  the same data that the FDA did and actually granted

         11  us a license, licensure for males.  So, if you lived

         12  in Australia, this vaccine is licensed for both

         13  females and males.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Oh, I guess they

         15  recognize the two parts of the species here.

         16                 DR. HAUPT:  I think you're right.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Do you anticipate

         18  pursuing this somewhere down the line?  And, I don't

         19  mean now, I know it takes a long time to gather

         20  information.

         21                 DR. HAUPT:  The male piece?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Yes.

         23                 DR. HAUPT:  Absolutely.  Our goal is

         24  to complete our male efficacy studies and submit

         25  that data to the FDA and hopefully the data will be
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          2  strong enough to allow them to approve the vaccine

          3  for use in males.  Our goal is to have this vaccine

          4  be routinely administered universally to the

          5  population, not just females.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Thank you.  We'll

          7  follow that very closely.  Any questions?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  No, you pretty

          9  asked all the questions.  The booster was one of my

         10  questions and the three doses was one of them.  You

         11  heard my statement on marketing and advertising.  My

         12  concern with the traditional forms of advertising is

         13  that with the advent of TiVo and DVR and recording,

         14  you could fast forward commercials.  Is there, I

         15  know you have a website, is there movement towards,

         16  you know targeting where the kids and the youth are

         17  currently on, like YouTube and MySpace and that type

         18  of vehicle?

         19                 DR. HAUPT:  So, we've looked and

         20  actually and engaged in a lot of different venues

         21  for our consumer education. One of our, the key

         22  principles of our consumer education is that we

         23  would only try to target or educate the parents of

         24  the younger adolescents.  It is, we do not feel it's

         25  appropriate for us to actually educate or to provide
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          2  information directly to a minor, somebody under 18

          3  years of age.

          4                 So, our educational efforts,

          5  television, if you, like for example I, you know, 20

          6  year old children in my house and I've never seen

          7  our commercial on TV because the way the television

          8  is bought, it's bought to reach the 20 to 50 year

          9  old women, so it reaches a young adult female who

         10  could make the decision themselves whether they

         11  should go get the vaccine and it reaches the mothers

         12  of young adolescents.

         13                 So, the commercials, you'll see on

         14  Oprah or The View or places like that.  You don't

         15  see it on ESPN, which is what I watch.  So, we

         16  specifically are trying to make sure we reach

         17  mothers of young adolescents, young adolescent

         18  females and the young adult female themselves.  So,

         19  there are some issues with some of the venues that

         20  you speak of because we do not feel it's appropriate

         21  to advertise, if you will, to the minors themselves.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  That argument

         23  makes perfect sense, actually.  Gentlemen, thank you

         24  very much.  I don't see any other questions.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Thank you and you
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          2  will provide that information?

          3                 DR. HAUPT:  I'll get back to you with

          4  that, sure.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you

          8  gentlemen.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  All right, our

         10  next panel is Angela Hooton from NARAL Pro- Choice

         11  and Julie Kay from Legal Momentum.  Thank you for

         12  being patient.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Ladies, you may

         14  state your name for the record and begin with your

         15  testimony.

         16                 MS. HOOTON:  So, good afternoon.  My

         17  name is Angela Hooton and I'm testifying on behalf

         18  of NARAL Pro- Choice New York.  First, I just wanted

         19  to thank the New York City Council for its

         20  extraordinary leadership and support on reproductive

         21  rights issues in general and for providing us with

         22  an opportunity to speak on this important women's

         23  health issue.

         24                 I'll be very brief because we've

         25  heard a lot of the background, but we wanted to
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          2  really emphasize that with this new vaccine, it's an

          3  amazing opportunity, an historic moment really, for

          4  the City Council to address the current disparities

          5  in cervical incidence and mortality in New York

          6  City.

          7                 Cervical cancer and lack of access to

          8  regular PAP screenings continue to pose a serious

          9  public health threat in New York City, where 20

         10  percent of women say they do not get regular PAP

         11  tests.  The proportion increases significantly among

         12  foreign born women.  And, if you look nationally,

         13  there are disparities in cervical cancer incidence

         14  in mortality especially among Latina and African

         15  American women, who are most likely to suffer from

         16  cervical cancer.

         17                 Women in underserved communities are

         18  often not able to access preventative health care

         19  and as a result they suffer from disproportionate

         20  rates of disease.  We must ensure that underserved

         21  communities have access to the full range of

         22  reproductive health care and preventative services,

         23  including PAP smears, HPV testing for women over 30,

         24  the new vaccine, in order to help prevent cervical

         25  cancer and eliminate the disparities.
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          2                 HPV is the most common sexually

          3  transmitted infection in the United States.  Yet,

          4  most people do not know about HPV or even that they

          5  might have it.  Although the majority of HPV

          6  infections do not cause any symptoms and eventually,

          7  as we've heard, they clear on their own, persistent

          8  infection with select high risk strains can lead to

          9  cervical cancer.

         10                 The new HPV vaccine, which protects

         11  against the strains that cause 70 percent of all

         12  cervical cancer cases has the potential to

         13  drastically reduce HPV and cervical cancer rates in

         14  New York.  The City Council can play a vital role in

         15  ensuring access to this ground breaking vaccine.  We

         16  believe at NARAL Pro Choice New York that every

         17  young women in New York should know about the

         18  vaccine and that no one who wants the vaccine should

         19  be turned away  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Excuse me one

         21  moment.

         22                 MS. HOOTON:  Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Can we please

         24  have quiet?  I know you're coming in for another

         25  meeting and we'll be over shortly, but we do have
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          2  testimony going on.  Thank you.

          3                 MS. HOOTON:  I'll be very brief.  And

          4  that no women who wants the vaccine should be turned

          5  away for lack of resources.  To these ends, we urge

          6  the Council to consider supporting an education

          7  initiative targeted at providers, parents and young

          8  adults about HPV, cervical cancer, the vaccine and

          9  most critically the need for continued PAP tests.

         10                 We also encourage the Council to

         11  support universal access by ensuring the HPV vaccine

         12  is available in public clinics and eliminating

         13  costly administrative barriers.  The vaccine is

         14  expensive, as you've heard, about $360.00 for the

         15  full three dose and that's not including

         16  administrative fees and also doctors' fees.

         17                 While the vaccines for Children

         18  program will provide Vaccines for many women under

         19  age of 18, including those who are on Medicaid or

         20  who are underinsured or uninsured, the vaccine is

         21  not, the VFC program is not necessarily going to

         22  guarantee that women 19 to 26 are going to have

         23  access to this. We believe it's a critical

         24  population that should not fall in between the

         25  cracks, given that they are at high risk.
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          2                 So, I'll leave it at that.  I just

          3  wanted to also note that the NARAL Pro- Choice New

          4  York's teen education program, which the City

          5  Council supports, our Torch program, has already

          6  integrated HPV education and awareness in our Peer

          7  to Peer Education program, recognizing that it is

          8  essential, as we've talked about today, that youth

          9  hear it from each other and understand the

         10  importance and benefits of this HPV.  So, we're

         11  really excited to work with you and I thank you for

         12  giving me this opportunity to speak.

         13                 MS. KAY:  Good afternoon.  My name's

         14  Julie Kay. I'm a Staff Attorney at Legal Momentum,

         15  which is the new name for the NOW Legal Defense and

         16  Education Fund.  I appreciate the opportunity to

         17  submit this statement and I will just read a few

         18  excepts from it because you have my full testimony

         19  and not a lot of time, but.

         20                 As part of Legal Momentum's mission

         21  to support quality reproductive health care, we urge

         22  the New York City Council to ensure that all girls

         23  and women have access to the groundbreaking HPV

         24  vaccine that can protect against cervical cancer.

         25                 We believe that HPV vaccination must
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          2  be made mandatory for school entry.  This is the

          3  only true way to ensure that all girls and women in

          4  New York City will have access to the vaccine.  We

          5  encourage the Council to take steps to facilitate

          6  mandatory vaccination for girls entering the sixth

          7  grade in New York City.  We further encourage the

          8  Council to, at a minimum, ensure that HPV

          9  vaccination is readily available and provided at no

         10  cost or at a low cost at Health Department clinics

         11  that provide immunization and treatment of sexually

         12  transmitted infections.

         13                 If vaccination is not made mandatory,

         14  it will never be widespread.  When vaccination is

         15  required, the government and private insurers cover

         16  the cost of vaccination and also ensure vital public

         17  education.  Requiring the vaccine will also ensure

         18  that young women get the vaccine when it is most

         19  effective, well before their first exposure to HPV.

         20                 Provisions allowing parents to opt

         21  out of mandatory vaccination are vital to preserving

         22  individual decision- making.  Already 48 states

         23  provides an opt out provision for parents who object

         24  to vaccination on religious grounds for any kind of

         25  existing vaccination.  Twenty more states allow

                                                            136

          1  HEALTH AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  conscientious or personal exemptions.  New York

          3  allows parents to opt out of vaccination if they

          4  hold sincere religious beliefs which are contrary to

          5  the required vaccinations.

          6                 If HPV is made mandatory in New York,

          7  we strongly support including an opt out provision

          8  to accommodate a broader range of parental

          9  objections, beyond simply religious objections, for

         10  parents to opt out of HPV vaccination for their

         11  daughters if they so choose without requiring others

         12  to be denied the crucial public funding and

         13  awareness that will result from mandatory

         14  vaccination and will lead to widespread use.

         15                 To be most effective, the vaccine

         16  must be given before teens become sexually active.

         17  Many doctors and public health care officials

         18  recommend that the vaccine be given to girls as

         19  young as nine years old to ensure that they are

         20  protected before they're ever at risk of exposure.

         21                 Furthermore, abstinence is only

         22  effective protection against HPV if it is used

         23  perfectly every time. Studies, however, have shown

         24  that even when teens adopt abstinence and abstain

         25  from sexual intercourse, they often turn to other
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          2  high risk sexual behavior, oral and/or anal sex in

          3  an effort to adhere to the abstinence message.

          4                 Since HPV can be contracted from skin

          5  to skin contact, students face a higher risk of

          6  contracting virus even if they abstain from sexual

          7  intercourse.  Because abstinence only programs are

          8  prohibited from teaching students about

          9  contraceptives, they have no knowledge of

         10  contraceptives, have limited knowledge about the HPV

         11  disease and tend to fall back, fall behind if they

         12  do adopt this approach.  Moreover, sexual activity

         13  is not always consensual and without the vaccine,

         14  sexual assault victims are vulnerable to the harms

         15  of the virus.  The vaccine is ineffective once the

         16  virus has been contracted.

         17                 Protecting women and girls from this

         18  potentially deadly form of cancer now rests with

         19  state and local governments. The federal government

         20  has made strong recommendations in favor of

         21  vaccination.  Now the Council has an opportunity to

         22  facilitate vaccination and generate more public

         23  awareness about the vaccine. As the spread of HPV is

         24  increasing and young women's lives in particular are

         25  at risk, we must take advantage of this opportunity
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          2  to make a historic and life saving vaccine available

          3  to all women and girls of New York City.  Thank you

          4  very much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Thank you very

          6  much.  Do you have any questions Chair Rivera?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Pretty much

          8  everything has already been stated earlier.  I guess

          9  I will pose a question to you, you mentioned that

         10  obviously you want to inform all youngsters, get

         11  them educated and peer to peer is essential. What

         12  about the concept and belief of utilizing the

         13  internet with MySpace and YouTube?  Do you think

         14  that will be effective or no?

         15                 MS. KAY:  I think that reaching out

         16  to young women and young men and teaching them and

         17  educating about comprehensive reproductive education

         18  is a top priority for both our organizations.  I

         19  think it can be effective, but I also see using the

         20  mandatory approach and having really the school be

         21  sort of a gatekeeper, it would be even more

         22  effective.

         23                 MS. HOOTON:  And just to add, so the

         24  Torch Teen program does have components on- line.  I

         25  definitely want to go back and talk to them about

                                                            139

          1  HEALTH AND WOMEN'S ISSUES

          2  how to use MySpace because they're all over it and

          3  there's no reason why not to use these other media

          4  forms.  But, they are doing their peer workshops and

          5  there's a lot of opportunities, there's a lot of

          6  youth groups in New York City that could be

          7  incorporating HPV vaccine education into their

          8  programs, so I'll spread the word.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  I mean, that's

         10  my idea, that fact is, I mean, the attention span of

         11  most people is very limited nowadays, especially

         12  when we're on sensory overload with all the

         13  commercials, all the radio advertising, all the

         14  newspaper advertising, it's everything we hear on a

         15  day to day basis.

         16                 So, it's how do you capture a

         17  person's attention in a way that's going to be

         18  highly effective?  That's our goal. To make sure

         19  that what we communicate is actually heard and

         20  utilized.  So, I'm thinking that maybe talk to your

         21  Torch Peer program, see if it's something that they

         22  would think is effective.  If they think it is,

         23  maybe a pilot program will be effective and then if

         24  you could forward the information to us, that would

         25  be great.
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          2                 MS. HOOTON:  Yes, absolutely.

          3                 MS. KAY:  Also, can, I just have one

          4  limitation of using the internet is that we are

          5  looking to target younger girls before they engage

          6  in any sexual activity.  So, by the time they're

          7  even 13, about ten percent are already at serious

          8  risk for contracting the virus.  So, anything we can

          9  do to reach parents as well and to, you known

         10  vaccinate the girls younger is effective too.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Thank you, thank

         12  you very much.

         13                 MS. HOOTON:  Thank you Madam Chair.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Comments?  No

         15  other comments, this meeting, this Hearing is

         16  closed.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 1:05 p.m.)
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